# **Taking AI Welfare Seriously**

Robert Long\* Eleos AI Jeff Sebo\* New York University

**Patrick Butlin**<sup>†</sup> University of Oxford Kathleen Finlinson<sup>†</sup> Eleos AI **Kyle Fish**<sup>†§</sup> Eleos AI, Anthropic

Jacqueline Harding<sup>†</sup> Stanford University **Jacob Pfau<sup>†</sup>** New York University **Toni Sims**<sup>†</sup> New York University

**Jonathan Birch**<sup>‡</sup> London School of Economics **David Chalmers<sup>‡</sup>** New York University

### Abstract

In this report, we argue that there is a realistic possibility that some AI systems will be conscious and/or robustly agentic in the near future. That means that the prospect of AI welfare and moral patienthood — of AI systems with their own interests and moral significance — is no longer an issue only for sci-fi or the distant future. It is an issue for the near future, and AI companies and other actors have a responsibility to start taking it seriously. We also recommend three early steps that AI companies and other actors can take: They can (1) acknowledge that AI welfare is an important and difficult issue (and ensure that language model outputs do the same), (2) start assessing AI systems for evidence of consciousness and robust agency, and (3) prepare policies and procedures for treating AI systems with an appropriate level of moral concern. To be clear, our argument in this report is not that AI systems definitely are - or will be - conscious, robustly agentic, or otherwise morally significant. Instead, our argument is that there is substantial uncertainty about these possibilities, and so we need to improve our understanding of AI welfare and our ability to make wise decisions about this issue. Otherwise there is a significant risk that we will mishandle decisions about AI welfare, mistakenly harming AI systems that matter morally and/or mistakenly caring for AI systems that do not.

<sup>\*</sup>Lead and corresponding authors. {robert@eleosai.org, jeffsebo@nyu.edu} <sup>†</sup>Main authors.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>‡</sup>Contributing authors.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>§</sup>Work performed while at Eleos AI, prior to joining Anthropic in Fall 2024.

## Contents

1	Intr	oduction	3
	1.1	A transitional moment for AI welfare	3
	1.2	The risks of mishandling AI welfare	6
2	Routes to near-term AI welfare		
	2.1	Introduction	10
	2.2	Consciousness in near-future AI	12
		2.2.1 Does consciousness suffice for moral patienthood?	12
		2.2.2 Will some AI systems be conscious in the near future?	14
	2.3	Robust agency in near-future AI	18
		2.3.1 Does robust agency suffice for moral patienthood?	18
		2.3.2 Will some AI systems be robustly agentic in the near future?	21
	2.4	Decision-making under uncertainty	25
		2.4.1 What if these capacities are insufficient for moral patienthood?	26
		2.4.2 What if these features are insufficient for these capacities?	26
		2.4.3 What if these routes encounter a roadblock?	27
		2.4.4 What if the probability of AI welfare and moral patienthood is low?	28
3	Recommendations for AI companies		
	3.1	Introduction	29
	3.2	Acknowledge	30
		3.2.1 Recommendations for companies	31
		3.2.2 Recommendations for language models	32
	3.3	Assess	34
	3.4	Prepare	38
4	Con	clusion	42
References			45

### **1** Introduction

### 1.1 A transitional moment for AI welfare

In this report, we argue that there is a realistic possibility that some AI systems will be conscious and/or robustly agentic, and thus morally significant, in the near future.<sup>1</sup> We also argue that AI companies have a responsibility to acknowledge that AI welfare<sup>2</sup> is a serious issue; start assessing their AI systems for welfare-relevant features; and prepare policies and procedures for interacting with potentially morally significant AI systems. Plausible philosophical and scientific theories, which accord with mainstream expert views in the relevant fields, have striking implications for this issue, for which we are not adequately prepared. We need to take steps toward improving our understanding of AI welfare and making wise decisions moving forward.

We release this report during a transitional moment for AI welfare. For most of the past decade, AI companies appeared to mostly treat AI welfare as either an imaginary problem or, at best, as a problem only for the far future. As a result, there appeared to be little or no acknowledgment that AI welfare is an important and difficult issue; little or no effort to understand the science and philosophy of AI welfare; little or no effort to develop policies and procedures for mitigating welfare risks for AI systems if and when the time comes; little or no effort to navigate a social and political context in which many people have mixed views about AI welfare; and little or no effort to seek input from experts or the general public on any of these issues.

Recently, however, some AI companies have started to acknowledge that AI welfare might emerge soon, and thus merits consideration today. For example, Sam Bowman, an AI safety research lead at Anthropic, recently argued (in a personal capacity) that Anthropic needs to "lay the ground-work for AI welfare commitments," and to begin to "build out a defensible initial understanding of our situation, implement low-hanging-fruit interventions that seem robustly good, and cautiously try out formal policies to protect any interests that warrant protecting."<sup>3</sup> Google recently announced that they are seeking a research scientist<sup>4</sup> to work on "cutting-edge societal questions around machine cognition, consciousness and multi-agent systems". High-ranking members of other companies have expressed concerns as well.<sup>5</sup>

This growing recognition at AI companies that AI welfare is a credible and legitimate issue reflects a similar transitional moment taking place in the research community. Many experts now believe that AI welfare and moral significance is not only possible in principle, but also a realistic possibility in the near future.<sup>6</sup> And even researchers who are skeptical of AI welfare and moral significance in the near term advocate for caution; for example, leading neuroscientist and consciousness researcher Anil Seth writes, "While some researchers suggest that conscious AI is close at hand, others, including me, believe it remains far away and might not be possible at all. **But even if unlikely, it is unwise to dismiss the possibility altogether** [emphasis ours]."<sup>7</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>By "near term" or "near future" we mean roughly within the next decade, so by around 2035, but nothing in our argument or recommendations depends on this exact timeline.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>As we discuss below, by 'AI welfare' we mean AI systems with morally significant interests and, relatedly, the capacity to be benefited or harmed.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Bowman (2024)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Careers (2024)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>See Long (2024) for more examples.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>For work on AI welfare as a near-term issue, see Birch (2024); Schwitzgebel (2023a,b); Chalmers (2023a); Sebo and Long (2023); Goldstein and Kirk-Giannini (2024); Bradley and Saad (2024); Dung (n.d.).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>Seth (2023).This accords with a number of papers and thinkers which discuss the high stakes of underattributing moral status and how to deal with moral status given uncertainty, including Chan (2011); Birch (2017); Sebo (2018); Dung (2023b); Ladak (2024); Goldstein and Kirk-Giannini (2024).

Our aim in this report is to provide context and guidance for this transitional moment.<sup>8</sup> To improve our understanding and decision-making regarding AI welfare, we need more precise empirical frameworks for evaluating AI systems for consciousness, robust agency, and other welfare-relevant features. We also need more precise normative frameworks for interacting with potentially morally significant AI systems and for navigating disagreement and uncertainty about these issues as a society.<sup>9</sup> This report outlines several steps that AI companies can take today in order to start preparing for the possible emergence of morally significant AI systems in the near future, as a precautionary measure.<sup>10</sup>

We begin in section 1 by explaining why AI welfare is an important and difficult issue. Leaders in this space have a responsibility to understand this issue as best they can, because errors in either direction — either over-attributing or under-attributing moral significance to AI systems — could lead to grave harm. However, understanding this issue will be challenging, since forecasting the mental capacities and moral significance of near-future AI systems requires improving our understanding of topics like the nature of consciousness, the nature of morality, and the future of AI. It also requires overcoming well-known human biases, including a tendency to both over-attribute and under-attribute capacities like consciousness to nonhuman minds.

In section 2, we argue that given the best information and arguments currently available, there is a realistic possibility of morally significant AI in the near future. We focus on two mental capacities that plausibly suffice for moral significance: consciousness and robust agency. In each case, we argue that caution and humility require allowing for a **realistic possibility** that (1) this capacity suffices for moral significance *and* (2) there are certain computations that (2a) suffice for this capacity *and* (2b) will exist in near-future AI systems. Thus, while there might not be certainty about these issues in either direction, there is a *risk* of morally significant AI in the near future, and AI companies have a responsibility to take this risk seriously now.<sup>11</sup>

We argue that, according to the best evidence currently available, there is a realistic possibility that some AI systems will be welfare subjects and moral patients in the near future.

#### Consciousness route to moral patienthood. There is a realistic, non-negligible possibility that:

- 1. Normative: Consciousness suffices for moral patienthood, and
- 2. **Descriptive**: There are computational features like a global workspace, higher-order representations, or an attention schema that *both*:
  - a. Suffice for consciousness, and
  - b. Will exist in some near-future AI systems.

Robust agency route to moral patienthood. There is a realistic, non-negligible possibility that:

- 1. Normative: Robust agency suffices for moral patienthood, and
- 2. **Descriptive**: There are computational features like certain forms of planning, reasoning, or action-selection that *both*:
  - a. Suffice for robust agency, and
  - b. Will exist in some near-future AI systems.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>This report is the first output of a broader research project. In future work, we will release a research agenda about how AI companies and others can assess AI systems for consciousness and robust agency, and develop policies and procedures for treating AI systems with an appropriate level of moral concern. Given the early stage of this field, this report may also be a living document that is updated periodically.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>According to one survey of public opinion (Colombatto and Fleming (2024), the majority of the public is already willing to attribute some chance of consciousness to large language models. Experts have a responsibility not only to research AI welfare but to disseminate that research publicly.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>The "precautionary principle" is a term of art for a particular view about decision-making under uncertainty, (see section 1.2). But here we mean "precautionary" in the ordinary sense of the word.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup>To be more precise, the risk is that morally significant AI will be created *and harmed or wronged*.

We close, in section 3, by presenting three procedural steps that AI companies can take today, in order to start taking AI welfare risks seriously. Specifically, AI companies can (1) **acknowledge** that AI welfare is an issue, (2) take steps to **assess** AI systems for indicators of consciousness, robust agency, and other potentially morally significant capacities, and (3) take steps to **prepare** policies and procedures that will allow them to treat AI systems with an appropriate level of moral concern in the future. In each case we also present principles and potential templates for doing this work, emphasizing the importance of developing ecumenical, pluralistic decision procedures that draw from expert and public input.

**Recommendations.** We recommend that AI companies take these minimal first steps towards taking AI welfare seriously.

Acknowledge. Acknowledge that AI welfare is an important and difficult issue, and that there is a realistic, non-negligible chance that some AI systems will be welfare subjects and moral patients in the near future. That means taking AI welfare seriously in any relevant internal or external statements you might make. It means ensuring that language model outputs take the issue seriously as well.

<u>Assess.</u> Develop a framework for estimating the probability that particular AI systems are welfare subjects and moral patients, and that particular policies are good or bad for them. We have templates that we can use as sources of inspiration, including the "marker method" that we use to make estimates about nonhuman animals. We can consider these templates when developing a probabilistic, pluralistic method for assessing AI systems.

**Prepare.** Develop policies and procedures that will allow AI companies to treat potentially morally significant AI systems with an appropriate level of moral concern. We have many templates to consider, including AI safety frameworks, research ethics frameworks, and forums for expert and public input in policy decisions. These frameworks can be sources of inspiration — and, in some cases, of cautionary tales.

These steps are necessary but far from sufficient. AI companies and other actors<sup>12</sup> have a responsibility to start considering and mitigating AI welfare risks.

Before we begin, it will help to emphasize five important features of our discussion. First, our discussion will concern whether near-future AI systems might be *welfare subjects* and *moral patients*. An entity is a **moral patient** when that entity *morally matters for its own sake*,<sup>13</sup> and an entity is a **welfare subject** when that entity has morally significant *interests* and, relatedly, is capable of being *benefited* (made *better off*) and *harmed* (made *worse off*). Being a welfare subject makes you a moral patient — when an entity can be harmed, we have a responsibility to (at least) avoid harming that entity unnecessarily. But there may be other ways of being a moral patient; our approach is compatible with many different perspectives on these issues.

Second, our discussion often focuses on large language models (LLMs) as a central case study for the sake of simplicity and specificity, and because we expect that LLMs — as well as broader

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup>In our recommendations, we sometimes use a collective "we". In those moments, we are referring to the constellation of actors that have a role to play in this work, including researchers, companies, and governments.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup>See Kamm (2007) for an influential definition of moral patienthood. "Moral status," "moral standing," or "moral considerability" are often used interchangeably or in closely related ways. For more on these issues, see Korsgaard (1983); Jamieson (2008); Jaworska and Tannenbaum (2021).

systems that include LLMs, such as language agents — will continue to be a focal point in public debates regarding AI welfare. But while some of our recommendations are specific to such systems (primarily, our recommendations regarding how AI companies should train these systems to discuss their own potential moral significance), our three general procedural recommendations (acknowl-edge, assess, and prepare) apply for any AI system whose architecture is complex enough to at least potentially have features associated with consciousness or robust agency.

Third, our discussion often focuses on initial steps that AI companies can take to address these issues. These recommendations are incomplete in two key respects. First, AI companies are not the only actors with a responsibility to take AI welfare seriously. Many other actors have this responsibility too, including researchers, policymakers, and the general public.<sup>14</sup> Second, these steps are not the only steps that AI companies have a responsibility to take. They are the **minimum necessary first steps** for taking this issue seriously. Still, we emphasize these steps in this report because by taking them now, AI companies can help lay the groundwork for further steps — at AI companies and elsewhere — that might be sufficient.

Fourth, our aim in what follows is not to argue that AI systems will *definitely* be welfare subjects or moral patients in the near future. Instead, our aim is to argue that given current evidence, there is a *realistic possibility* that AI systems will have these properties in the near future.<sup>15</sup> Thus, our analysis is not an expression of anything like consensus or certainty about these issues. On the contrary, it is an expression of **caution and humility** in the face of what we can expect will be substantial ongoing disagreement and uncertainty.<sup>16</sup> In our view, this kind of caution and humility is the only stance that one can responsibly take about this issue at this stage. It is also all that we need to support our conclusions and recommendations here.<sup>17</sup>

Finally, and relatedly, our aim in what follows is not to argue for any particular view about how humans should interact with AI systems in the event that they *do* become welfare subjects and moral patients. We would need to examine many further issues to make progress on this topic, including: how much AI systems matter, what counts as good or bad for them, what humans and AI systems owe each other, and how AI welfare interacts with AI safety and other important issues. These issues are all important and difficult as well, and we intend to examine them in upcoming work. However, we do not take a stand on any of these issues in this report, nor does one *need* to take a stand on any of them to accept our conclusions or recommendations here.<sup>18</sup>

### 1.2 The risks of mishandling AI welfare

When assessing the welfare and moral patienthood of nonhumans, including other animals and AI systems, we face two kinds of risk: the risk of *over-attributing* welfare and moral patienthood to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup>In this respect, AI welfare is like other high-stakes issues about AI development and deployment: handling AI welfare should not remain solely the prerogative of private corporations.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup>See Goldstein and Kirk-Giannini (forthcoming): "While we do not claim to demonstrate conclusively that AI systems have wellbeing, we argue that there is a **significant probability** that some AI systems have or will soon have wellbeing, and that this should lead us to reassess our relationship with the intelligent systems we create [emphasis ours]".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup>For related work on the value of humility in AI ethics, see Gellers (2024).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup>Some of the authors of this report believe that near-term AI welfare is quite likely, and that additional measures are warranted at this stage. But we all believe that near-term AI welfare is, at minimum, likely enough to warrant the measures recommended here, and our aim here is to focus on arguments and recommendations about which we can build consensus despite our different beliefs and values.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup>For arguments concerning AI moral status that use somewhat alternative methodological approaches than ours, see Gellers (2021); Gunkel (2012).

nonhumans, and the risk of *under-attributing* these properties to nonhumans.<sup>19</sup> Over-attribution of welfare and moral patienthood is a false positive: mistakenly seeing, or treating, an object as a subject, or a non-moral patient as a moral patient. Under-attribution of these properties is a false negative: mistakenly seeing, or treating, a subject as an object, or a moral patient as a non-moral-patient.<sup>20</sup> Both of these mistakes can lead to significant costs or harms in this context, and we will need to navigate both of them with caution.<sup>21</sup>

When there is a clear asymmetry between competing risks — for example, when false positives are far more severe than false negatives, or vice versa — then we might be able to mitigate risk by simply "erring on the side of caution" in cases where a more complex risk assessment is either intractable or unnecessary. But when there is at least a rough symmetry between competing risks — for example, when false positives and false negatives are comparably severe — a simple precautionary strategy may not be possible. We may have to engage in more complex risk assessment to the extent possible, attempting to mitigate both kinds of risks in a reasonable, proportionate manner.

How should we think about risks involving nonhuman welfare and moral patienthood in this context? In the case of nonhuman animals, it seems plausible that the harms of under-attribution of welfare and moral patienthood are often far worse than the risk of over-attribution, which makes precautionary reasoning appropriate in those contexts. However, in the case of AI, both errors could cause grave harm, either to humans (and other animals) or to AI systems. Both kinds of harm could also scale rapidly depending on the trajectory of AI development and deployment from here. This predicament makes it difficult to simply "err on the side of caution," which underscores the urgency of improving our understanding of these issues.

On the one hand, the harm of under-attributing welfare and moral patienthood to AI systems could be significant. When we mistakenly see a subject as an object, we risk harming or neglecting them unnecessarily. For example, factory farming, animal research, and other such industries kill hundreds of billions of vertebrates and trillions of invertebrates every year. And as evidence that these animals are welfare subjects and moral patients has accumulated, our species has been slow to accept it, in part because of our increasing dependence on these industries. Now that our species is finally starting to accept this evidence, it will take us decades to transform these industries, during which many more animals will suffer and die unnecessarily.

In the future, similar harms could follow from under-attributing welfare and moral patienthood to AI systems. The AI industry is currently at an early stage of development, and depending on the path that it takes from here, we could use even more AI systems than animals in the future, and we could scale up our use of them even more rapidly. This is particularly true in the current paradigm, which requires an enormous amount of compute for training and much less for inference.<sup>22</sup> If an AI system in such a paradigm could be a welfare subject and moral patient, then many model instances

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup>Arguments that uncertainty about moral status is dangerous because of risks of both under- and overattribution can be found in, among others, Christiano (2018); Schwitzgebel and Garza (2015, 2020); Birch (2024); Sebo and Long (2023); Dung (2023a); Shevlin (2021).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup>de Waal (1999) similarly wrote about the risks of over- or under-attributing human characteristics, including moral status, to nonhuman animals.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup>In addition to these two errors, we can also be mistaken about a variety of related questions about an entity, even assuming that they are a welfare subject and moral patient: how much they matter, what is good or bad for them, and what we owe them. These errors can also carry grave risks, and we discuss them further in upcoming work; see also Sebo (2025). For now, we focus on over-attribution and under-attribution of welfare and moral patienthood.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup>Davidson (2023)

could be run after training. Unlike with animals, the scale of the problem could increase by orders of magnitudes more or less instantaneously.<sup>23</sup>

On the other hand, the harm of over-attributing welfare and moral patienthood to AI systems could be significant as well. First of all, there could be substantial opportunity costs associated with this error. At present, we lack the ability to fully care for the eight billion humans alive at any given time, to say nothing of the quintillions of other animals alive at any given time. If we treated an even larger number of AI systems as welfare subjects and moral patients, then we could end up diverting essential resources away from vulnerable humans and other animals who really needed them, reducing our own ability to survive and flourish. And if these AI systems were in fact merely objects, then this sacrifice would be particularly pointless and tragic.<sup>24</sup>

The over-attribution of welfare and moral patienthood to AI systems could also be actively harmful. For example, if we treated AI systems as welfare subjects and moral patients with many of the same interests as typical adult humans, then we could end up extending them many of the same legal and political rights as typical adult humans, including the right to legal and political representation and participation. This could, in turn, empower AI systems to act contrary to our own interests, with devastating consequences for our species<sup>25</sup> (although some have argued that *neglect* for AI systems would carry a similar risk).<sup>26</sup> As with the risk of opportunity costs, this risk would apply even if these AI systems are in fact subjects. But if they were in fact merely objects, then accepting this risk would likewise be particularly pointless and tragic.

By default, we should not expect our "common sense" intuitions about AI welfare and moral patienthood to be reliable; we will not handle this issue well simply by reacting to situations as they arise. We have dispositions that can lead to under- *and* over-attribution of these properties in non-humans, depending on the nature of the nonhumans and our interactions with them. These include dispositions toward **anthropomorphism**, that is, a tendency to see nonhumans as *having* human traits that they *lack*. They also include dispositions towards **anthropodenial**, that is, a tendency to see nonhumans as *lacking* human traits that they *have*. Both tendencies have caused errors regarding animals, and they will likely have a similar effect regarding AI systems.<sup>27</sup>

A number of factors make us more likely to anthropomorphize nonhumans and, perhaps falsely, attribute consciousness and other such capacities to them. For instance, studies suggest that we are more likely to attribute consciousness and other such capacities to beings who move at a similar speed as humans, rather than faster or slower.<sup>28</sup> We are more likely to attribute agency to beings who have the appearance of eyes,<sup>29</sup> who have distinctive motion trajectories, and who engage in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup>Akova (2023); Bostrom (2014); Dung (2023a); Gloor (2016); Metzinger (2021); Tomasik (2011)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup>Bryson (2010); Birhane and van Dijk (2020)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup>See, among others, Bradley and Saad (2024); Shulman and Bostrom (2021); Carlsmith (2023), who notes that these risks make "building new, very powerful agents who might be moral patients...both a morally and prudentially dangerous game."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup>Salib and Goldstein (2024); Sebo (2025) argue that extending legal rights to AI systems would help, not hinder, AI safety. We believe that this issue is crucial for assessing the kinds of risks discussed in this section, and we hope to see further research that assesses and compares these risks.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup>See Andrews's (2014) The Animal Mind for discussion of these issues in the animal context.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup>Chalmers (1996), ch. 7; Morewedge et al. (2007)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup>See Fernandez-Duque and Baird (2005). Even infants are evidently more likely to treat objects as having mental states if those objects have eyes. See Johnson et al. (2001).

contingent interaction — that is, behavior that is apparently self-directed.<sup>30</sup> Evidence also suggests that features such as "cuteness" can encourage attributions of mental states and moral patienthood.<sup>31</sup>

Many robots or chatbots are designed to appear conscious and charismatic<sup>32</sup>, and in the future, many AI systems will have bodies, life-like motion, and (at least apparently) contingent interactions. Furthermore, unlike nonhuman animals, AI systems are already increasingly able to hold extremely realistic conversations, making seemingly thoughtful contributions in realistic timeframes.<sup>33</sup> These traits do not guarantee that humans will see and treat these systems as welfare subjects and moral patients, but they will increase the probability of such reactions. In fact, there have already been cases — some prominent<sup>34</sup> and others less so<sup>35</sup> — of humans becoming convinced that current chatbots are welfare subjects and moral patients.

At the same time, a number of factors make us more likely to engage in anthropodenial as well. For instance, when we consider the mechanisms that produce nonhuman behavior — taking what Daniel Dennett has called taking a "mechanistic stance"<sup>36</sup> towards nonhumans — we become less likely to attribute mental states to those nonhumans.<sup>37</sup> There appear to be motivational factors that encourage anthropodenial as well. For instance, those who are invested in social, political, or economic systems that subjugate nonhumans may be more likely to view these nonhumans as "lesser than". Similarly, those who find it useful to treat nonhumans as objects may be more likely to deny that these nonhumans are welfare subjects and moral patients.<sup>38</sup>

While discussions about AI welfare and moral patienthood understandably focus on AI systems like robots and chatbots that appear conscious and charismatic, many other AI systems — like image generators or algorithmic trading systems — lack these features. Even if such systems were in fact conscious and robustly agentic, we might not recognize these capacities in them. And as these systems become increasingly embedded in society, we might have increasingly strong incentives to view them as mere objects. Companies, governments, and other powerful actors who benefit from this technology might then promote and reinforce our objectification of these systems, attempting to frame moral consideration for these systems as fringe and unserious.

At present, it is an open question which kind of risk will be more likely for particular kinds of AI systems, including seemingly conscious and charismatic systems like robots and chatbots.<sup>39</sup> The more advanced such systems become, the more likely both risks might become in different respects: We might over-attribute based on their behavioral similarities with humans, but under-attribute based

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup>Arico et al. (2011). We note that contingent interaction is plausibly a reasonable criterion.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup>Pearce (2022). See Campbell (2024) for a brief popular overview of risks from unreliable intuitions about AI mentality.

 $<sup>^{32}</sup>$ There have already been examples of *directly* optimizing chatbots to maximize user engagement: Irvine et al. (2023).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup>Lin et al. (2022). As Lazar (2024) notes, recent advances enable the creation of systems that "can now offer vastly more companionable, engaging, and convincing simulations of friendship than has ever before been feasible."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup>For instance, AI engineer Blake Lemoine caused a stir by claiming that Google's AI chatbot was sentient in 2022. See Tiku (2022).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup>The possibility and implications of AI consciousness is a popular discussion topic on the internet forum Reddit. See, for example, https://www.reddit.com/r/ArtificialSentience/.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup>Dennett (1973)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup>Sims (2013); Nahmias et al. (2007)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup>There is evidence of this effect in the history of our treatment of animals. Often, people who eat meat are not inclined to view animals as moral patients. However, when they stop eating meat (even for non-moral reasons), they become more likely to see animals as moral patients. See Loughnan et al. (2010).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup>According to one survey, the majority of US residents sampled already endorse some chance that large language models might be conscious (Colombatto and Fleming, 2024).

on their architectural differences from humans. And the more economically dependent on chatbots we become, the more likely over-attribution and under-attribution might become for them in different respects as well: For example, we might over-attribute for digital "companions" but under-attribute for other kinds of digital minds.

While further research is required for a comprehensive assessment of these risks, at least this much is plausible: Given our track record with animals and the current pace of AI development, the risk of under-attribution appears to be both reasonably likely and reasonably harmful. To the extent that we also risk over-attribution, we cannot simply avoid this risk by defaulting to treating AI systems as mere objects. We should thus accept that AI welfare is difficult to get right, and do the necessary work to improve our decisions — by assessing AI systems for evidence of consciousness, robust agency, and other such capacities, and preparing policies and procedures for treating AI systems with an appropriate level of moral concern.

### 2 Routes to near-term AI welfare

### 2.1 Introduction

We will argue that, according to the best information and arguments currently available, there is a realistic possibility that some AI systems will be moral patients in the near future. We first consider the possibility that some AI systems will be *conscious* in the near future, and we then consider the possibility that some AI systems will be *robustly agentic* in the near future. Consciousness, robust agency, or both could suffice for moral patienthood *and* could exist in some near-future AI systems. In our view, while these routes toward near-future AI moral patienthood are far from certain, they are likely enough for AI companies to have a responsibility to start implementing reasonable, proportionate precautionary measures now.

We make structurally similar arguments for both routes. Each route depends on a normative claim and a descriptive claim:

#### Near-term consciousness: key claims

There is a realistic, non-negligible possibility that:

- 1. Normative: Consciousness suffices for moral patienthood, and
- 2. **Descriptive**: There are computational features like a global workspace, higher-order representations, or an attention schema that *both*:
  - a. Suffice for consciousness, and
  - b. Will exist in some near-future AI systems.

#### Near-term robust agency: key claims

There is a realistic, non-negligible possibility that:

- 1. Normative: Robust agency suffices for moral patienthood, and
- 2. **Descriptive**: There are computational features like certain forms of planning, reasoning, or action-selection that *both*:
  - a. Suffice for robust agency, and
  - b. Will exist in some near-future AI systems.

In each case, the normative view is about the basis for moral patienthood — that is, about which capacities suffice for moral patienthood. We still have substantial disagreement and uncertainty about this issue. For example, are conscious experiences with a positive or negative valence necessary for moral patienthood, or are conscious experiences with a neutral valence sufficient? Similarly, is the ability to set and pursue goals by rationally assessing your beliefs and desires necessary for moral patienthood, or is the ability to set and pursue goals by acting on your beliefs and desires sufficient? Experts continue to debate such issues, but the kinds of consciousness and agency that we consider here are among the leading views.<sup>40</sup>

Meanwhile, in each case the descriptive view involves two parts. The first part is about the basis for each of these capacities. For example, are biological cells necessary for consciousness, or are digital chips that play similar functional roles sufficient? Similarly, are beliefs and desires with a propositional structure necessary for robust agency, or are belief- and desire-like states that play similar functional roles sufficient? Experts continue to debate these issues as well, and especially in the case of consciousness, determining which features are required for this capacity is widely regarded as one of the hardest tasks in philosophy and science. We will thus draw from a range of leading philosophical and scientific theories in our analysis.

The second part of each descriptive view is about the future of AI. When, if ever, will these potentially morally significant features exist in AI? Answering this question requires assessing both the pace and path of AI development. Regarding the pace, will AI development slow down, stay the same, or speed up? And regarding the path, it will be important to consider two possibilities: (1) what we call **the direct path**, which involves building conscious and/or agentic AI *intentionally*, because of their perceived intrinsic or instrumental value; and (2) what we call **the indirect path**, which involves building conscious and/or agentic AI *unintentionally*, as a side effect of pursuing other, possibly overlapping capabilities such as general intelligence.

Please note that in the following two sections we will mostly discuss what we call the consciousness route and the robust agency route separately, focusing on whether either one of these routes could lead to AI welfare and moral patienthood on its own. However, we must also bear in mind that these routes could also lead to this destination *together* — that is, that there could be AI systems in the near future with *both* consciousness *and* robust agency. And however likely AI systems would be to morally matter for their own sakes if they developed either of these capacities on its own, they would be all the more likely to morally matter for their own sakes if they developed both of these capacities together.

Finally, we emphasize that the aim of these arguments is not to establish *certainty* that these routes will lead to near-future AI moral patients. The aim is instead to establish a *realistic possibility* that these routes will lead to this destination. The details might differ in each case; for example, we might have more confidence that consciousness suffices for moral patienthood but less confidence that it will exist in near-future AI, whereas we might have less confidence that robust agency suffices for moral patienthood but more confidence that it will exist in near-future AI. But in each case, as long as this route leads to a *realistic possibility* of near-future AI moral patients (in a sense of "realistic possibility" that we discuss below), the argument will be successful.

We focus on establishing a realistic possibility of near-future AI moral patienthood for two reasons. First, the relevant normative and descriptive issues are far too difficult and contested for

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup>For some recent discussions of AI moral patienthood that review various criteria, see Shevlin (2021); Ladak (2024). For a review of philosophical theories of moral patienthood, see Jaworska and Tannenbaum (2021).

anything approaching certainty in either direction to be warranted at this stage. Second, a realistic possibility of near-future AI moral patienthood is all that we need for our purposes in this report, since that would constitute a **morally significant risk** that merits consideration now. Our conclusion in this report will thus simply be that AI companies should start implementing low-cost, reasonable, proportionate steps to consider and mitigate risks associated with AI welfare as we attempt to improve our understanding of this topic over time.

Before we begin our discussion, a note about the scope of our discussion in what follows. We will often discuss current large language models (LLMs) due to their recent advances, current prominence, and salience in AI welfare debates due to their conversational abilities. However, we emphasize that one should not focus exclusively on current LLMs when considering risks associated with near-future AI moral patienthood.<sup>41</sup> Many features that may be associated with moral patienthood — for example, embodiment, introspection, and rationality — are either already present in current non-LLM systems or at least possible in near-future LLM or non-LLM systems, and we must keep these possibilities in mind as well.

We now turn toward considering the two paths in more detail.

### 2.2 Consciousness in near-future AI

The consciousness-based case for expecting moral patienthood in near-term AI systems is that there is a **realistic, non-negligible possibility** that:

- 1. Normative: Consciousness suffices for moral patienthood, and
- 2. **Descriptive**: There are computational features like a global workspace, higher-order representations, or an attention schema that *both*:
  - a. Suffice for consciousness, and
  - b. Will exist in some near-future AI systems.

We can now survey why each premise is plausible enough to support a realistic possibility in near-future AI moral patienthood, given the best information and arguments currently available.

#### 2.2.1 Does consciousness suffice for moral patienthood?

The word "consciousness" is used in many different ways in ordinary language and in various academic disciplines. In this report, we use "consciousness" to mean subjective experience — what philosophers call "phenomenal consciousness."<sup>42</sup> One famous way of elucidating "phenomenal consciousness" is to say that an entity has a conscious experience when there is "something it is like" for that entity to be the subject of that experience.<sup>43</sup> There is a subjective "feel" to your experiences as you read this report: something that it is like to see the words on the screen while, perhaps, listening to music playing through your speakers, feeling the couch underneath you, feeling the laptop — or a cat or a dog — on top of you.

The word "sentience" is likewise used in many different ways. Some uses of "sentience" are synonymous with some uses of "consciousness." But in this report, we use "sentience" to mean a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup>For example, a recent TIME piece entitled "No, Today's AI Isn't Sentient" only discussed arguments against sentience in LLMs in particular, not AI systems more broadly (Li and Etchemedy, 2024).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>42</sup>Block (1995)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43</sup>Nagel (1974). For another way of elucidating the concept of consciousness via examples, in a way that seeks to be "metaphysically and epistemically innocent" with respect to philosophical assumptions, see Schwitzgebel (2016).

particular kind of consciousness, namely *positively or negatively valenced* conscious experiences. Anything that feels *good* or *bad* in some way or another counts as positively or negatively valenced in the relevant sense. This can include bodily states like pleasures and pains and emotional states like hope and fear. If you find the report engaging (or the opposite), if you find the music pleasant (or the opposite), and if you find the couch comfortable (or the opposite), then you are experiencing a range of positive or negative states at the same time.

Why might sentience suffice for moral patienthood?<sup>44</sup> The idea that sentience is a sufficient condition for moral patienthood is very plausible and widely accepted, because when you can consciously experience positive and negative states like pleasure and pain, that directly matters to you.<sup>45</sup> All else being equal, your life goes better for you when you experience positive states like pleasure and your life goes worse for you when you experience negative states like pain. So there is a clear link between sentience and welfare. There is also a clear link between sentience and moral patienthood, because we have a responsibility not to harm welfare subjects unnecessarily, including and especially by causing them to suffer unnecessarily.

To be clear, when we say that sentience suffices for moral patienthood, we are not saying that sentience suffices for the specific kind of moral status that typical adult humans possess.<sup>46</sup> Typical adult humans are *both* sentient *and* rational, which means that we have a wide range of moral rights that these capacities jointly unlock (in addition to having moral duties, though this is not our focus here). In contrast, many other animals are plausibly sentient but non-rational, which means that they plausibly lack certain moral rights, such as the right to make their own medical decisions. But for present purposes, what matters is that we at least have *some* duties to animals, including a duty to avoid causing them to suffer unnecessarily.<sup>47</sup>

The idea that consciousness without valence suffices for moral patienthood, while contested, is increasingly defended as well.<sup>48</sup> Some philosophers argue for this view by describing subjects who have consciousness without valence, and by asserting that these subjects plausibly matter for their own sakes.<sup>49</sup> However, some of these thought experiments describe subjects who have consciousness *and* agency, which makes it hard to tell whether consciousness alone suffices.<sup>50</sup> And while other thought experiments describe subjects who have consciousness without valence *or* agency (say, a subject who passively experiences color with no pleasure *or* desire), the idea that this subject matters for their own sake is more controversial.<sup>51</sup>

In any case, even if consciousness is insufficient for moral patienthood *in theory*, it might still be sufficient — or at least nearly sufficient — *in practice*, since consciousness and valence might

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>44</sup>See, among others, Singer (2011); Gruen (2017); Nussbaum (2007); Dung (2024).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>45</sup>Bentham (1789); Rawls (1971); DeGrazia (1996, 2021); Parfit (2013, p. 241); Korsgaard (2018); Kagan (2019, p. 12); Roelofs (2023); Nussbaum (2024); Birch (2024, chs. 2, 4); Smithies (forthcoming).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>46</sup>Rawls (1971); Nozick (1974); Korsgaard (2018); Sebo (2022).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>47</sup>Korsgaard (2018). See also A *Theory of Justice* (Rawls, 1971), which claims that, although animals are outside the scope of his theory, "the capacity for feelings of pleasure and pain and for the forms of life of which animals are capable clearly imposes duties of compassion and humanity in their case."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>48</sup>See Levy and Savulescu (2009); Chalmers (2023b); Lee (forthcoming); Shepherd (2018).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>49</sup>Many of these arguments are discussed in Ladak (2024).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>50</sup>For example, Kagan (2019) argues that non-valenced consciousness *with* preferences and desires is sufficient to warrant moral consideration. He imagines an entity with a preference for experiencing blue, though blue is not a valenced experience for the entity.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>51</sup>For example, Chalmers (2023b) argues that it seems wrong to kill a Vulcan, a hypothetical creature who is conscious but does not have valenced experience. While Vulcans can have desires, Chalmers argues that they would merit moral consideration even if they didn't have desires.

be closely linked. For example, it might be that consciousness necessarily involves valence,<sup>52</sup> in which case the emergence of conscious AI would suffice for the emergence of sentient and morally significant AI. It might also be that even if consciousness without valence is theoretically possible, the step from conscious AI to sentient AI is much easier than the step from non-conscious AI to conscious AI. In that case, the emergence of conscious AI would be (at the very least) a significant step towards morally significant AI, warranting careful scrutiny.<sup>53</sup>

While this section is primarily about the consciousness route towards AI welfare and moral patienthood, we note that consciousness could be relevant for other reasons too; for instance, as noted above, whether or not consciousness suffices for moral patienthood on its own, it might suffice in combination with other capacities like robust agency — that is, it might be that when entities can consciously set and pursue their own goals based on their own beliefs and desires, they matter for their own sakes (whether or not they can experience pleasure or pain). If so, then the emergence of conscious AI would increase the probability of morally significant AI for this reason (that is, as part of a consciousness *and* robust agency route) as well.

In the remainder of this section we follow our strategy in Sebo and Long (2023) by examining the route towards conscious AI in general rather than examining the routes towards specific kinds of consciousness, such as valenced consciousness. We make this choice for the sake of simplicity and specificity, given that the science of consciousness is more developed than the science of valence and given that consciousness is plausibly either sufficient for or otherwise closely linked to valence and/or moral patienthood anyway. We will then, in upcoming work, discuss these capacities in more detail and present a research agenda that examines how to identify indicators for both consciousness and sentience in LLMs and other AI systems.

### 2.2.2 Will some AI systems be conscious in the near future?

How can we tell whether AI systems are conscious? We can be confident that other (awake, adult) humans are conscious, since each of us knows that *we* are conscious and that other humans are behaviorally and anatomically similar to us. But we have uncertainty about *why* we are conscious, that is, about which features of our brains or bodies are responsible for, or associated with, consciousness. We also have uncertainty about which *other animals* are conscious, <sup>54</sup> because of uncertainty not only about which features are associated with consciousness in humans, but also about how to extrapolate what we know about human consciousness to the nonhuman animal case. We also have significant uncertainty about how many animals' brains work.

Recently, scientists have attempted to improve our understanding of nonhuman consciousness by searching for what "markers" of consciousness in other animals.<sup>55</sup> At a high level this method proceeds as follows: We start by distinguishing between certain kinds of conscious and unconscious processing in humans — say, distinguishing *pain* from *nociception*<sup>56</sup> by seeing when patients do or do not report consciously feeling pain. We then identify features that correlate with conscious processing — say, certain behaviors, brain regions, or patterns of neural processing. We then search

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>52</sup>Cleeremans and Tallon-Baudry (2022); Lee (forthcoming)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>53</sup>Sebo and Long (2023)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>54</sup>This is sometimes called the "distribution question" (Allen (2000).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>55</sup>See Allen and Trestman (2007). For philosophical defenses see Tye (2016); Birch et al. (2021); Bayne and Shea (2021) For scientific use of markers see Braithwaite (2010); Sneddon et al. (2014); Birch et al. (2021).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>56</sup>Nociception is the physiological processing of noxious, or harmful, stimuli. It may or may not be accompanied by the qualitative experience of pain.

for relevantly similar features in nonhumans, and we treat the presence of these features as *evidence* of conscious processing.

This method does not tell us which animals definitely are or are not conscious, and there are a variety of methodological difficulties related to identifying and extrapolating the relevant features.<sup>57</sup> But this method has still allowed researchers and policymakers to make more informed estimates and decisions about animal welfare despite ongoing disagreement and uncertainty about animal consciousness. Moving forward, the same can be true for AI. Later on, we discuss how to tailor this method for AI, but for now, we can emphasize that it will be important to focus less on *behavioral* evidence (with a limited class of exceptions, which we discuss below) and more on *internal* evidence, like architectural and computational features.

Which kinds of architectural and computational features might indicate consciousness in AI? We can look to **neuroscientific theories of consciousness** for guidance. These theories use a variety of empirical methods to uncover which states and processes are associated with consciousness.<sup>58</sup> While these theories tend to be framed around *brain* or *neural* states and processes (given our typical focus on humans and other animals), the ones we focus on tend to specify these states and processes in terms of the *computations* that they perform or the *functional roles* that they play. While these theories remain contested and incomplete, they can still shed light on what kinds of states and processes might be associated with consciousness in AI.

Of course, even if we identify a variety of architectural and computational markers of consciousness in AI systems, we must still ask whether these markers *suffice* for consciousness. **Computational functionalism** is the hypothesis that some class of computations suffices for consciousness.<sup>59</sup> If this hypothesis is correct, then the question is which computations suffice for consciousness and when, if ever, these computations will exist in AI.<sup>60</sup> If this hypothesis is incorrect<sup>61</sup>, then AI consciousness will remain at best a theoretical possibility until we move beyond current architectures. For example, if more biology-like functions are required for consciousness, then AI consciousness may require novel hardware that can perform those functions.<sup>62</sup>

As we discuss below, our view is that **computational functionalism is neither clearly correct nor clearly incorrect** at this stage. We might lean one way or the other, but given the importance and difficulty of consciousness as a research topic, we should leave room for doubt. That means that AI consciousness assessments will need to be probabilistic rather than all or nothing at present and, plausibly, for the foreseeable future. To use a simple example, if we estimate that there is a 30–50% chance that computational functionalism is correct and a 30–50% chance that an AI system

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>57</sup>Most saliently, what we learn from the human case is, most directly, what some of the *sufficient* conditions are for consciousness. It is difficult to know which elements we should take to be strictly necessary.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>58</sup>Seth and Bayne (2022); Chalmers (2004)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>59</sup>Computational functionalism is one kind of functionalism (Piccinini, 2018). For a survey of varieties of functionalism, see Block (2009); Maley and Piccinini (2013). See Putnam (1967) for a classic statement of computational functionalism. See Colombo and Piccinini (2023) and Rescorla (2020) for computational theories of mental phenomena more generally.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>60</sup>Note that the theories of consciousness we consider, and the investigations of AI systems that we propose, do not purport to solve the "hard problem" of consciousness, which concerns how physical processes relate to conscious experiences. Whatever mysteries there may be about this fundamental issue, virtually everyone agrees that physical processes (such as certain patterns of neural firing or certain computations) and conscious experiences are closely related in systematic ways. The theories and investigations at hand seek to find the neural processes and/or computations that are associated with consciousness.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>61</sup>Godfrey-Smith (2016, 2020); Cao (2022); Seth (2021, 2024)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>62</sup>Brunet and Halina (2020)

is conscious if so, then it follows that there is a 9–25% chance that this AI system is conscious. That would be good to know when interacting with this AI system!

In this precautionary spirit, some of the authors of this report (Patrick Butlin, Robert Long, and Jonathan Birch) released a paper in 2023 exploring the implications of several prominent scientific theories of consciousness<sup>63</sup> — viewed through the lens of computational functionalism — for AI consciousness. The table below lists the theories and conditions we surveyed:

### **Recurrent processing theory**

1.1 Input modules using algorithmic recurrence

1.2 Input modules generating organised, integrated perceptual representations

### Global workspace theory

2.1 Multiple specialised systems capable of operating in parallel (modules)

2.2 Limited capacity workspace, entailing a bottleneck in information flow and a selective attention mechanism

2.3 Global broadcast of information in the workspace to all modules

2.4 State-dependent attention, giving rise to the capacity to use the workspace to query modules in succession to perform complex tasks

### Computational higher-order theories

3.1 Generative, top-down or noisy perception modules

3.2 Metacognitive monitoring distinguishing reliable perceptual representations from noise

3.3 Agency guided by a general belief-formation and action selection system, and a strong disposition to update beliefs in accordance with the outputs of metacognitive monitoring

3.4 Sparse and smooth coding generating a 'quality space'

### Attention schema theory

4.1 A predictive model representing and enabling control over the current state of attention

Predictive processing

5.1 Input modules using predictive coding

### Agency and embodiment

6.1 Minimal agency, that is, the capacity to learn from feedback and select outputs in such a way as to pursue goals, especially involving flexible responsiveness to competing goals

6.2 Embodiment, that is, the capacity to model output-input contingencies, including some systematic effects, and to use this model in perception or control

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>63</sup>Butlin et al. (2023)

These theories come in numerous versions. Weaker versions are directed only at distinguishing conscious from unconscious states in humans. For our purposes, what matters are stronger versions that aim to give sufficient conditions for consciousness across human and nonhuman systems. The crucial claim is that there is a realistic possibility that such a theory is correct, at least to the extent that the indicators associated with one or more theories jointly provide sufficient conditions for consciousness. Given this, and given that the indicators can be implemented in near-term AI systems, then there is a realistic possibility that near-term AI systems will be conscious.

It is by no means obvious that any of these theories are correct, especially in their stronger versions. Our claim is not that they are correct, but only that there is a realistic possibility that one of them is correct. In fact, for our purposes, it would suffice if an extension of one of these theories is correct, or if some other computational theory is correct, as long as the relevant theory provides sufficient conditions that can be implemented in near-future AI.

After surveying the indicators and a variety of AI systems and methods, we found no clear barriers to satisfying these indicators using current AI architectures and methods. And while no current systems seemed very likely to be conscious at the time, there do seem to be plausible routes towards conscious AI, according to these theories and assumptions.

Consider global workspace theory, which associates consciousness with a global workspace — roughly, a system that integrates information from mostly-independent, task-specific information-processing modules, then broadcasts it back to them in a way that enables complex tasks like planning. We found that, as argued by Juliani et al. (2022), some AI architectures already embody some, though not all, aspects of a global workspace.<sup>64</sup> We also found that several technical research programs seem poised to implement further aspects of a global workspace in the near future.<sup>65</sup> And indeed, researchers investigating consciousness in AI recently have subsequently built a system which aims to implement all of the global workspace indicators from Butlin et al. (2023).<sup>66</sup> We found similar trends for other theories as well.<sup>67</sup>

For the global workspace and other potential indicators of consciousness, progress might continue via direct efforts, in which researchers try to build conscious AI *intentionally*. Some researchers are motivated to build conscious AI because they view conscious AI as an end in itself. "It would be monumentally cool," as Graziano (2017, p. 7) puts it. Others are motivated to build conscious AI because they believe that consciousness or related features could make AI systems safer or more capable.<sup>68</sup>

AI companies might also build conscious AI *unintentionally*. You might wonder why an AI system designed to, say, navigate a warehouse or manage a factory would be conscious. The answer is that on some views of consciousness, the building blocks of consciousness can emerge as a side effect of other cognitive capacities, such as perception, cognition, and robust agency. For example, many theories of consciousness take *metacognition* — roughly, the ability to model your own cognition — as important for both consciousness and decision-making.<sup>69</sup> This kind of connection is also

<sup>66</sup>Dossa et al. (2024)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>64</sup>Similarly, Goldstein and Kirk-Giannini (forthcoming) have argued that language agents instantiate a global workspace in the relevant sense.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>65</sup>VanRullen and Kanai (2021); Goyal et al. (2022); Goyal and Bengio (2022); Bao et al. (2020)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>67</sup>See Butlin et al. (2023), section 3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>68</sup>Bengio (2019); Goyal and Bengio (2022); Graziano (2017); Verschure (2016)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>69</sup>Shea et al. (2014). For an overview of higher-order theories of consciousness, see Carruthers and Gennaro (2020). As David Chalmers has noted (Chalmers (2018)), "In general, we should expect any intelligent system to have an internal model of its own cognitive states."

an element of, among others, global workspace theory,<sup>70</sup> higher-order theories, and the attention schema theory.

The link between consciousness and other cognitive capacities is unclear, and we certainly do not want readers to naively equate them. But it may be that increased cognitive capacity tends to bring about consciousness, in both biological and digital systems. Thus, it may even be that general intelligence will itself be a plausible indicator for AI consciousness in the future.<sup>71</sup>

For these and other reasons, we agree with a recent open letter by consciousness scientists and AI researchers that "it is no longer in the realm of science fiction to imagine AI systems having feelings and even human-level consciousness."<sup>72</sup> As one of the authors of this report, David Chalmers, wrote in 2023:

I think it wouldn't be unreasonable to have a credence over 50 percent that we'll have sophisticated LLM+ systems (that is, LLM+ systems with behavior that seems comparable to that of animals that we take to be conscious) with all of these properties<sup>73</sup> within a decade. It also wouldn't be unreasonable to have at least a 50 percent credence that if we develop sophisticated systems with all of these properties, they will be conscious. Those figures would leave us with a credence of 25 percent or more [emphasis ours].<sup>74</sup>

### 2.3 Robust agency in near-future AI

The robust agency-based case for expecting moral patienthood in near-term AI systems is that there is a **realistic, non-negligible possibility** that:

- 1. Normative: Robust agency suffices for moral patienthood, and
- 2. **Descriptive**: There are computational features like certain forms of planning, reasoning, or self-awareness that *both*:
  - Suffice for robust agency, and
  - Will exist in some near-future AI systems.

We will present arguments for each of these premises in turn.

### 2.3.1 Does robust agency suffice for moral patienthood?

The word "agency" is used in many different ways as well. In a broad sense, one might use "agent" to mean any entity that senses the environment and responds,<sup>75</sup> which would include thermostats,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>70</sup>Shea and Frith (2019)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>71</sup>Shevlin (2020). A related view is Danaher's (2020) "ethical behaviorism," which holds that we should treat an entity as a moral patient if it is "performatively equivalent to other entities that have significant moral status." Danaher stresses equivalence of behavior rather than equivalence of cognitive capacities.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>72</sup>AMCS (2023)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>73</sup>With "all of these properties," Chalmers is referring to a number of proposed necessary conditions for consciousness, quite similar to those discussed here, that he argues will plausibly be satisfied by near-term AI systems: senses, embodiment, world-models, self-models, recurrent processing, global workspace, and unified agency.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>74</sup>Chalmers (2023a). Chalmers also notes that these credences follow from mainstream views about consciousness; he adds that his own credences are higher, given that his own views about consciousness are more expansive.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>75</sup>Russell et al. (2010, p. 34): "an agent is anything that can be viewed as perceiving its environment through sensors and acting upon that environment through activators."

or any entity that learns and pursues goals, which would include very simple RL agents that play Tic-Tac-Toe. Some might take even these basic ways of being an agent to be sufficient for moral patienthood and, to the extent that you accept this view, you likely already endorse moral consideration for AI systems without needing to read further. While this view merits consideration (and we consider it further in upcoming work), we set it aside for now. We will be arguing that AI systems could be agents in a more demanding sense.<sup>76</sup>

Specifically, "robust agency" is the ability to pursue goals via some particular set of cognitive states and processes. Which ones? There are several "levels" of agency that extend beyond the mere ability to learn and pursue goals, and that could plausibly suffice for moral patienthood even when consciousness is absent.<sup>77</sup> For present purposes, we highlight three such levels:

- 1. **Intentional agency**: This is the capacity to set and pursue goals via beliefs, desires, and intentions. Roughly, if you have mental states that represent *what is, ought to be*, and *what to do*, and if these mental states work together in the right kind of way to convert perceptual inputs to behavioral outputs, then you count as an intentional agent.
- 2. **Reflective agency**: This is intentional agency plus the ability to *reflectively endorse* your own beliefs, desires, and intentions. Roughly, if you can form beliefs, desires, and intentions about your own beliefs, desires, and intentions, accepting or rejecting your own attitudes and behaviors at a higher level, then you count as a reflective agent.
- 3. **Rational agency**: This is reflective agency plus the ability to *rationally assess* your own beliefs, desires, and intentions. Roughly, if you can consider whether particular beliefs, desires, intentions, actions are justified and adopt principles that you can treat as rules of conduct, then you count as a rational agent.<sup>78</sup>

There might also be different ways of realizing each capacity, with different kinds and degrees of cognitive sophistication. For example, typical adult humans have the capacity for propositional thought, which means that our thoughts can have a structure that allows for truth values and logical relations. This capacity unlocks powerful forms of intentional agency, reflective agency, *and* rational agency, since it allows us to develop a wide range of novel beliefs, desires, and intentions and then use evidence and reason to assess their accuracy and coherence. In contrast, while nonhuman animals appear to lack this capacity, many animals at least have a limited capacity for symbolic thought, metacognition, and planning and problem solving.<sup>79</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>76</sup>Wooldridge and Jennings (1995); Schlosser (2019); Kenton et al. (2023)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>77</sup>For another taxonomy of agency for the AI context, see Dung (2024), who also notes the importance of agency for AI moral patienthood.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>78</sup>For any kind of agency, one key question will be whether that form of agency requires consciousness. For example, when assessing whether an AI system has beliefs and desires, one view would be that it is enough to have states that play the functional role of beliefs and desires (roughly, representing what is and what ought to be). On this view, beliefs and desires would not require consciousness. But another view would be that beliefs and desires might require that it feels like something for the AI system to perform those functions — roughly, it needs to have conscious feelings about how the world is and ought to be. On this view, beliefs and desires would require consciousness. For an overview of phenomenal intentionality, see Bourget (2019).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>79</sup>For example, many animals appear to have thoughts that take the form of maps and charts, with abstract information about social and environmental structures. Many animals also have perceptual affordances that represent what is, what ought to be, and what to do; a limited ability to represent their own mental states and the mental states of others; and a limited ability to make basic inferences based on disjunctions and negations. These capacities allow for a limited form of all three levels of robust agency, with important similarities with and differences from the typical human form. For discussion, see Sebo (2017); Camp (2009); Bermúdez (2009); Gennaro (2009); DeGrazia (2009).

Why might these kinds of agency suffice for moral patienthood? First, intentional agents are potentially *welfare subjects*.<sup>80</sup> It seems plausible that when you have desires, your life goes better for you when your desires are satisfied and worse for you when your desires are frustrated. Moreover, the satisfaction or frustration of desires can benefit or harm you *whether or not* you consciously experience them.<sup>81</sup> On some views, this is why we can be posthumously harmed, for example.<sup>82</sup> And while some people think that desire-satisfaction and desire-frustration matter only for conscious beings, others think that they matter for non-conscious beings as well, and so animals with desires deserve moral consideration whether or not they can consciously experience pain, for instance.<sup>83</sup>

Reflective agency, particularly in its propositional form, then adds the ability to have desires about our own desires, which is at the root of some conceptions of free will, the self, and personal identity.<sup>84</sup> Specifically, our desires become "ours" in a new sense when we endorse them through reflection. Reflective agency also allows for new kinds of morally significant interests and relationships. When you can have mental states about other mental states, you can have at least a limited conception of how you and others think or feel. For example, reflective agents can have preferences about how they relate to each other, and all else being equal, their lives are better for them when those preferences are satisfied and worse for them otherwise.

Rational agency, particularly in its propositional form, then adds the ability to create *social contracts* with other rational agents (assuming that they can communicate as well), which are at the root of some conceptions of moral, legal, and political rights and responsibilities.<sup>85</sup> Rational agency also allows for decisions based on judgments about reasons and principles, and this ability not only allows for new kinds of interests, but also — on some views — commands a kind of respect that extends beyond compassion. Indeed, this idea of respect for rational agents is at the root of the Kantian ethical theory, which rests alongside the utilitarian idea of beneficence for sentient beings as one of the two most influential ethical theories in the modern era.<sup>86</sup>

In what follows, we discuss the route towards robust agency in general rather than the routes towards intentional, reflective, and rational agency in particular. We distinguish these levels of robust agency here to emphasize that there can be different kinds of robust agency with different kinds of moral significance, both within and across these levels. That means that when we search for robust agency in nonhumans, including animals and AI systems, it would be a mistake to anchor too much on human agency. But having now made this point, we focus on showing that AI development is

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>80</sup>This kind of view reflects one of the main philosophical theories of welfare, known as the desiresatisfaction view. This view holds that your life goes better or worse for you to the extent that your desires are satisfied or frustrated, independently of whether you consciously experience the satisfaction or frustration of your desires. See, for instance, Heathwood (2015).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>81</sup>Dorsey (2013)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>82</sup>See, for example, Nozick (1974); Rachels (1986); Kagan (1994); Ruddick (2005).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>83</sup>See Neely (2014); Kagan (2019); Kammerer (2022); Delon (2024); Goldstein and Kirk-Giannini (forthcoming), who consider and/or defend versions of this view.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>84</sup>Frankfurt (1971)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>85</sup>Traditionally, philosophers have focused more on the significance that these capacities might have for *moral agency*. This is a different concept from moral patienthood: In general, you are a moral agent if you can have duties to others, and you are a moral patient if others can have duties to you. And many philosophers believe that a particular kind of agency — namely, rationality — is important for moral agency because you need to be able to reason about your actions in order to be morally accountable or responsible for them. When a non-rational entity (say, a hurricane) kills someone, we can call it bad. But when a rational agent knowingly and willingly kills someone, we also call it wrong.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>86</sup>However, please note that while Immanuel Kant (1785) accepted rationality as the basis for moral patienthood, some contemporary Kantians, such as Korsgaard (2018), now accept sentience as the basis for moral patienthood instead.

currently on a path to create many computations that we associate with all of these levels of robust agency.

### 2.3.2 Will some AI systems be robustly agentic in the near future?

There are plausible routes by which we might soon have AI systems with robust agency. What it takes to be an intentional, reflective, and/or rational agent is not clear. Many cognitive capacities are plausibly associated with each level — capacities that are the aims of well-resourced research programs that are making significant progress. For example, intentional agency is related to capacities for planning, memory, and learning. Reflective agency is related to introspection and situational awareness. And rational agency is related to all of these capacities, along with abstract reasoning about principles and strategies.

The capacities described in this section might or might not be necessary or sufficient for these levels of robust agency. But to the extent that these capacities are present, the probability of robust agency will increase. And the development of AI systems with such capacities aligns with the aims of significant research and development efforts: Both major tech companies and startups are investing heavily in creating more agentic AI systems, with significant progress already evident.<sup>87</sup> In what follows, we discuss recent work in reinforcement learning, language agents, and other research programs as case studies.<sup>88</sup>

First, **reinforcement learning** (**RL**) is the subfield of AI most concerned with building agents as a fundamental goal, as Sutton and Barto put it in their canonical RL textbook:

[RL] explicitly considers the whole problem of a goal-directed agent interacting with an uncertain environment.<sup>89</sup>

In RL, the aim is to write algorithms that allow agents to learn, reason, and act in pursuit of specified goals in complex environments. RL construes goal-pursuit as maximizing reward through interaction with the environment, and some RL researchers argue that this process allows agents to acquire the whole suite of capacities observed in intelligent systems.<sup>90</sup>

RL is a useful starting point for examining robust agency in AI, not only because of its prominence and recent successes, but also because of its centrality of reinforcement learning for human and nonhuman agency.<sup>91</sup> Of course, in humans and many other animals, a rich understanding of social and environmental context and the expressive power of language, among other capabilities, make substantial contributions to our capacities for robust agency as well. But deep RL has made it possible for AI agents to be virtually embodied and situated in environments comparable to those inhabited by animals,<sup>92</sup> and so it may be a compelling foundation for projects to emulate natural agency.

Deep RL has achieved significant successes in game-playing in the last decade. These successes include superhuman performance in Go, chess, shogi, and a variety of Atari games (i.e. MuZero),<sup>93</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>87</sup>Toner et al. (2024)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>88</sup>We focus on the research programs that seem in recent years to be making the most strides, though doubtless there have been and likely will be other paradigms that make progress.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>89</sup>Sutton and Barto (2015, p. 3)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>90</sup>Silver et al. (2021)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>91</sup>Dolan and Dayan (2013)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>92</sup>Shanahan et al. (2020); Abramson et al. (2021)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>93</sup>Schrittwieser et al. (2020)

as well as in games that involve controlling an avatar in a relatively rich and dynamic environment, such as Gran Turismo (GT Sophy)<sup>94</sup> and Starcraft II (AlphaStar).<sup>95</sup> Many of these agents, such as MuZero, can learn models of the game environments (including opponent behavior) and use them to make the predictions in order to plan. Some game-playing agents can also exploit a form of episodic memory, called experience replay, in order to increase sample efficiency.<sup>96</sup>

While many agents have relatively narrow capabilities, DeepMind's Adaptive Agent demonstrates the ability to rapidly adapt to new tasks in a 3D virtual environment.<sup>97</sup> AdA is trained on a varied curriculum of tasks, inducing *meta-learning* of an algorithm for few-shot learning of new tasks — that is, for learning how to make reliable predictions and decisions based on a small number of examples. The architecture includes a Transformer-based memory module encoding recent observations, allowing the system to identify dependencies between actions and subsequent events. As a result, AdA has a notably effective, flexible way of acquiring and using a grasp of the environment's dynamics.

RL research targets robust agency partly through research on abstraction and hierarchical planning. In complex environments that require intricate sequences of movements, it can be vital to use representations that abstract away from low-level details. For example, Director can learn to break down tasks with sparse rewards into subgoals.<sup>98</sup> RL research also targets robust agency through research on multiplayer strategy games such as Diplomacy, which involves forming alliances. For example, Meta's Cicero<sup>99</sup> uses an adapted language model to achieve comparable performance to high-level human players, planning in ways that predict human behavior and changing plans through communication with these other agents.

Researchers are now pursuing several promising strategies involving **language agents** as well.<sup>100</sup> Language agents leverage the powerful natural language processing and generation abilities of LLMs for greater capability and flexibility, by embedding LLMs within larger architectures that support functions like memory, planning, reasoning, and action selection.<sup>101</sup> While existing systems struggle with reliability, the properties of language agents and their initial success suggest that they have the potential to overcome traditional barriers towards more agentic systems<sup>102</sup>. Indeed, several notable examples of language agents have emerged in recent years, demonstrating that this strategy can lead to more robust and generalized agency across diverse domains:<sup>103</sup>

• ReAct (Yao et al., 2023) alternates between generating thoughts/plans and taking actions in interactive environments. It can break down complex tasks, gather information dynam-

<sup>99</sup> (FAIR)

<sup>100</sup>Mialon et al. (2023); Wang et al. (2024); Sumers et al. (2024); Guo et al. (2024)

<sup>103</sup>See Butlin (n.d.), who discusses several of these systems in light of various conceptions of agency.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>94</sup>Wurman et al. (2022)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>95</sup>Vinyals et al. (2019)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>96</sup>Mnih et al. (2015)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>97</sup>Team et al. (2023)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>98</sup>Hafner et al. (2022)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>101</sup>Depending on one's definition, even LLMs that are used as (or in) chatbots, like ChatGPT, may also qualify as "language agents" (see Butlin (n.d.) for discussion). Goldstein and Levinstein (2024) argue that such LLMs also plausibly have beliefs and desires, noting the importance of this claim for issues of moral patienthood.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>102</sup>LLMs in their own right are also making progress towards agency, and in particular when combined with RL methods. Recent work has explored using language models as the starting point for RL training, as in reinforcement learning from human feedback (RLHF), LM-based proof-writing agents, and LM-based coding agents (Ruan et al. (2024)). Indeed recent benchmarking work suggests progress on language modeling capabilities naturally results in performance gains on agentic tasks. See Ziegler et al. (2020); DeepMind (2024); Gehring et al. (2024)

ically, and adjust its approach based on intermediate results. ReAct has shown strong performance on language-based tasks like question answering and web navigation.

- Generative Agents (Park et al., 2023) simulates interactive AI characters. The agents have persistent identities, relationships, and goals, with an LLM generating plans and actions based on their memories, observations, and reflections. As a result, they exhibit long-term coherence with evolving goals and emergent social behaviors.
- Voyager (Wang et al., 2023) uses an LLM to control an embodied agent in Minecraft, iteratively setting its own goals, devising plans, and writing code to accomplish increasingly complex tasks. By maintaining a skill library and reflecting on past experiences, Voyager can bootstrap its way to mastering the game's tech tree and creatively solving novel challenges.
- SayCan (Ahn et al., 2022) grounds language in robotic control, using an LLM to generate high-level plans that are then mapped to concrete robot skills. This allows the system to flexibly respond to natural language commands by reasoning about affordances and breaking tasks into actionable steps.

These language agents, and others, exhibit several key properties that make them more robustly agentic compared to many traditional AI systems (though progress has certainly been made outside the language agent paradigm as well):

- Flexible goal-setting and planning: Rather than being constrained to predefined reward functions, language agents can understand open-ended objectives, generate their own sub-goals, and devise multi-step plans to achieve them.
- Adaptive reasoning: By leveraging LLMs' broad knowledge and reasoning capabilities, language agents can navigate novel contexts, drawing from relevant insights in other contexts to inform their decisions.
- Memory integration: Many language agents incorporate episodic and semantic memory systems, allowing them to learn from experience, maintain consistent behaviors, and apply past knowledge to new contexts.<sup>104</sup>
- Metacognition: Agents like Voyager and Generative Agents can reflect on their own thoughts and experiences, enabling higher-order reasoning and self-improvement.
- Open-ended interaction: These systems can often engage in natural language dialogue, explain their reasoning, and incorporate new information or instructions on the fly.

For these and other, similar reasons, Goldstein and Kirk-Giannini (forthcoming) argue that philosophical consideration of language agents suggests that "the technology already exists to create AI systems with wellbeing." Our conclusion at this stage is somewhat more tentative: Rather than assert or deny that the technology already exists to create such systems, we merely assert that the technology already exists to create *key properties* of such systems.<sup>105</sup> We also note that, while many

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>104</sup>cf. also, among others, Rubin et al. (2022); Shinn et al. (2023).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>105</sup>Language agents and other generative agents are clearly quite different from biological agents. For example, their 'observations' are all in language, their 'intelligence' is mostly embedded within language models, and many of them do not learn via reward and punishment. It is hard to know exactly what to say about them, and we are not claiming that they have robust agency. Instead, we are claiming that they constitute a significant step towards robust agency in AI. While language agents and other generative agents are still limited in many ways, their ability to flexibly pursue goals, reason about abstract concepts, and adapt to novel situations is a striking indicator of what else may soon be possible.

"language agents" may turn out to be impressive demos that do not scale, frontier language models are also being made more agentic by the day<sup>106</sup>. The question is whether and to what extent progress will continue from here. We believe that the current state of the field, combined with the clear incentives that developers have for continuing to build towards robust agency, strongly suggest that progress will continue.

Specifically, we expect that **future routes** have the potential to produce further properties associated with robust agency. Consider an AI that combines the learning capabilities of RL agents with the reflection and world modeling capabilities of LLMs. In a recent interview, Demis Hassabis discusses one possible example of such a system: combining LLMs with the Monte Carlo Tree Search (MCTS) used by, say, AlphaGo.<sup>107</sup> In such a system, the LLM provides a rich, flexible "belief" system about the world. The LLM could be used to analyze the system's decision-making process, approaching a form of meta-cognition. This system might also be able to provide explanations or justifications for its decisions, approaching a form of rational deliberation.<sup>108</sup>

Applying RL to augment run-time performance of LLMs is a promising route as well. Consider OpenAI's o1 system. Described as a "Large Reasoning Model" (LRM), o1 incorporates extensive chain-of-thought reasoning, which is speculated to be trained using RL. This approach, combined with increased compute usage at inference time, has led to markedly improved performance on planning and reasoning tasks, nearly saturating some benchmarks that previously challenged LLMs. o1 also exhibits concerning behaviors related to instrumental convergence, deceptive alignment, and reward hacking. These traits, while currently limited in scope and impact, highlight the potential for LLMs to be used to make systems that are more agentic.

The long-term ambitions of AI research have consistently aimed towards creating systems that exhibit key characteristics of robust agency. These goals include developing AI systems that can operate on extended time horizons, maintain coherent objectives, engage in self-reflection, and revise their own goals and methods. For large swaths of the field, the ultimate aim has been and remains to create "human-level" AI capable of general problem-solving across diverse domains.<sup>109</sup> This vision implicitly requires many of the capacities we associate with robust agency: intentional goal-setting, reflective self-assessment, and rational decision-making in complex, dynamic environments.

These aims are also central to current investment and effort. For example, major tech companies like Microsoft and Google have announced plans for AI tools with "more autonomy and less human intervention" and agents that can autonomously carry out complex multi-step tasks.<sup>110</sup> Simultaneously, startups such as Adept, MultiOn, and Lindy have raised hundreds of millions of dollars to develop flexible AI agents. This excitement could be overstated and/or misplaced, of course — and recent work has already seen periods of hype and disillusionment, as with systems like AutoGPT — but it is evidence that a lot of effort will be put into building more agentic AI systems in the coming years.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>106</sup>Anthropic (2024)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>107</sup>Hassabis (2022)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>108</sup>This is just one kind of potential capability enhancement from synergies between LLMs and RL; Pternea et al. (2024) surveys a variety.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>109</sup>See, among many others, McCarthy et al. (1955); Moravec (1995), Russell et al. (2010, ch. 27), Morris et al. (2024).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>110</sup>Microsoft touts systems "that can now act as independent agents — ones that can be triggered by events — not just conversation — and can automate and orchestrate complex, long-running business processes with more autonomy and less human intervention." See Aftab (2024).

While today's dominant AI paradigm, centered around LLMs, often appears less explicitly agentic, there are clear signs of a shift towards more agent-like systems like the kinds discussed here. Consider the goal of building advanced AI assistants that can undertake a variety of complex tasks.<sup>111</sup> Such a system would need to be able to set and pursue long-term goals based on high-level reflections about facts and values.<sup>112</sup> Of course, there is no way of knowing for certain whether current efforts to build such a system will succeed. But there is a strong incentive to maintain these efforts and a tenable path toward success. Relevant actors thus have reason to consider not only the benefits but also the risks and harms that might follow from success.

### 2.4 Decision-making under uncertainty

These reflections identify two routes towards near-future AI moral patienthood. Again, the consciousness-based case holds that there is a realistic possibility that (1) consciousness suffices for moral patienthood, (2a) some class of computational features suffice for consciousness, and (2b) some AI systems will have these features in the near future. The robust agency-based case is structurally identical, but with robust agency instead of consciousness. How should we assess these arguments? That, of course, depends on how confident we are in their premises. It also depends on how we make decisions in cases involving uncertainty about key normative and descriptive issues. This section briefly discusses these issues.

The premises of these arguments invoke difficult questions, and in future work we will present a research agenda that discusses these questions in more detail. But at a high level, it would be a mistake to reject any of these premises out of hand. These arguments address foundational issues in philosophy, science, and technology; issues involving what it takes to matter, what it takes to think and feel, and what the future of AI holds. We may well favor some views about these issues over others. But given how difficult and contested these issues are, we should embrace caution and humility about our current views, aspiring to learn more and preparing for the possibility that our views will change over time.

This kind of caution and humility is enough to motivate the recommendations that we make in this report. We are not arguing that near-future AI systems will, in fact, be moral patients, nor are we making recommendations that depend on that conclusion; that would require assessing these issues with more precision and reliability than we think is possible at present. We are instead arguing that near-future AI systems have a *realistic chance* of being moral patients given the information and arguments currently available, and we are making recommendations that depend on *that* conclusion — recommendations that focus on aspiring to learn more while preparing for the possible emergence of AI moral patienthood as a precautionary measure.

To see why we think that this kind of caution and humility is warranted at this stage, we briefly consider three key uncertainties one might have about the prospect of near-future AI moral patienthood: first, about the bases of welfare and moral patienthood; second, about the bases of consciousness and robust agency; and third, about the path and pace of near-future AI progress. We then consider how to make important decisions when confronted with uncertainty about multiple key issues at the same time. As we discuss below, substantial uncertainty about the nature and intrinsic value of AI systems does not mean that we should postpone taking AI welfare seriously; on the contrary, it means that we should take AI welfare seriously now.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>111</sup>See Gabriel et al. (2024); Dong et al. (2023)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>112</sup>LeCun (2024)

#### 2.4.1 What if these capacities are insufficient for moral patienthood?

We have focused on consciousness and robust agency because they are two of the most prominently defended bases of welfare and moral patienthood. But this list of potential bases of welfare and moral patienthood is far from comprehensive, and there is ongoing disagreement and uncertainty about whether these capacities — individually or jointly — are necessary or sufficient.

The consciousness-based route holds that consciousness (either valenced or non-valenced) suffices for moral patienthood. But some views of moral patienthood are more demanding. For example, on some views, moral patienthood requires reciprocity, which requires rationality; I can have duties to you only if you can have duties to me, and you can have duties to me only if you can rationally assess your actions.<sup>113</sup> However, this view implies that a wide range of vulnerable beings lack moral patienthood, including not only nonhuman animals but also infants and other non-rational humans.<sup>114</sup> A more common view is that you need rationality to have *particular* rights, like the right to drink or smoke, but not to merit moral consideration in general.<sup>115</sup>

Meanwhile, the agency-based route relies on the premise that agency (either rational or nonrational) suffices for moral patienthood, even without consciousness. This view holds that consciousness is not the only way to have a morally significant subjective perspective; the possession of beliefs, desires, intentions, and other such states is another.<sup>116</sup> But this view is far from secure, since many philosophers still hold that moral patienthood requires consciousness, either valenced or non-valenced. So our agency-based route relies on a more controversial basis of moral patienthood than the consciousness-based route does. Still, it would be rash to dismiss this view entirely as we create increasingly complex agents.<sup>117</sup>

With that said, we should also keep in mind that some AI systems could be *both* conscious *and* agentic in relevant respects. And the idea that these capacities *jointly* suffice for moral patienthood is both very plausible and widely accepted. That is, if AI systems could experience happiness and suffering *and* set and pursue their own goals based on their own beliefs and desires, then they would very plausibly merit moral consideration (though their interests and rights could still be quite different from ours). Granted, some restrictive views about moral patienthood would deny this claim, such as views that require membership in the species *Homo sapiens*. But it would be *especially* rash to dismiss nonhuman moral patienthood on such grounds.

#### 2.4.2 What if these features are insufficient for these capacities?

We have also focused on certain computational features that might suffice for consciousness and/or robust agency. But some theories of consciousness and robust agency give an essential role to biology or to other features that current AI systems lack.<sup>118</sup> (Here, we focus on these sorts of objections regarding consciousness).<sup>119</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>113</sup>See Carruthers (2011); Wissenburg (2014), among others. cf. Korsgaard (2018, ch. 7).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>114</sup>Andrews et al. (2018, pp. 17–47)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>115</sup>Andrews et al. (2018, pp. 85–114), Korsgaard (2018)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>116</sup>Levy (2024)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>117</sup>cf. Goldstein and Kirk-Giannini (2024), who discuss risk in the context of their agency-centric case for AI wellbeing.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>118</sup>One cluster of views we do not focus on here are theological views that assign importance to a non-physical soul. See Turing (1950) for a canonical discussion, recently elaborated upon by Cutter (forthcoming).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>119</sup>For a recent defense of the necessity of biology for *agency*, see Jaeger et al. (2024).

There are a variety of views that would rule out AI consciousness on existing hardware. Some views hold that consciousness requires biology *in principle* — if a system is nonbiological, then it is nonconscious, no matter what computations it performs.<sup>120</sup> Other views hold that consciousness requires computational features that, at least at present, require biology *in practice* — such as specific kinds of oscillations that require specific kinds of chemical and electrical signals.<sup>121</sup> And still other views hold that consciousness requires computational features that, while perhaps possible in nonbiological systems, are still not present in mainstream AI hardware — such as analog computations<sup>122</sup> or integration of computations across space and time.<sup>123</sup>

As in past work, we do not take computational functionalism to be clearly true, nor do we take any of these alternatives to have been refuted. Our position is that computational functionalism is plausible and well-supported, and so it would be a mistake to dismiss near-future AI welfare and moral patienthood solely on the basis of high-level arguments against this assumption. If, in the near future, we built AI systems on existing hardware that possessed all of the computational features described in sections 2.2.2 and 2.3.2, then we might not be warranted in being very confident that consciousness and robust agency are *present*. But we would also not be warranted in being very confident that these capacities are *absent*.

Expert surveys support the value of keeping an open mind about the basis of these capacities at this stage. For example, in a survey of members of the Association for the Scientific Study of Consciousness, only 3% responded "no" to the question: "At present or in the future, could machines (e.g., robots) have consciousness," and over two thirds of respondents answered "yes" or "probably yes."<sup>124</sup> And in a 2020 survey of professional philosophers, around 39% responded that they accept or lean toward the view that future AI systems will be conscious.<sup>125</sup> If our confidence in the possibility of AI consciousness is anywhere in the ballpark of these percentages — as, we think, it should be — then that is more than enough for our purposes here.<sup>126</sup>

### 2.4.3 What if these routes encounter a roadblock?

AI has progressed significantly in the last decade, and our arguments in this report consider the possibility of further progress in the decade to come. But of course, the path and pace of further AI

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>120</sup>For example, according to a physicalist biological substrate theory, consciousness is simply *identical to* states or processes of biological, carbon-based neurons (see Hill (1991, pp. 10–12),Block (2009); McLaughlin (2012), Block (2023, pp. 445–446)). These views entail that no silicon-based system can be conscious as a matter of principle.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>121</sup>Peter Godfrey-Smith, who has argued for such a view, is "skeptical about the existence of non-animal" consciousness at present, including AI consciousness (Godfrey-Smith, 2020), though he also notes that his view "would not suggest a barrier to artificial consciousness per se, but a need for new architectures if such systems were to be built" (Godfrey-Smith, 2024). Other theorists express skepticism about AI consciousness on current hardware for similar reasons (Seth, 2021; Shiller, 2024). Brunet and Halina (2020) argue that the hardwares of (most) current AI systems do not satisfy the functional criteria outlined by Godfrey-Smith (2016), but that some existing and future hardwares might.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>122</sup>Arvan and Maley (2022)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>123</sup>Shiller (2024). Proponents of integrated information theory (IIT) make a similar argument, though for different reasons (Koch, 2019).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>124</sup>Francken et al. (2022)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>125</sup>Bourget and Chalmers (2023)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>126</sup>To be clear, we are definitely not arguing that one must always defer to expert views — especially in cases like this, when the relevant field is not particularly mature. But we do take these results to be part of a case against premature dismissal of the possibility of AI consciousness.

progress depend on a wide range of social, political, economic, and technological factors, and we have substantial disagreement and uncertainty about these factors as well.<sup>127</sup>

On the one hand, AI progress could slow down, even stall. AI companies have made significant progress in recent years due in large part to the scaling of large models. However, there could be diminishing returns with further scaling, particularly for tasks that require long time horizons. There could also be a "data wall" or other technical roadblocks, without any algorithmic or architectural breakthroughs that allow us to circumvent them. And there could be economic resistance to further scaling due to how expensive and resource-intensive this process is becoming (especially if capability gains are insufficient to motivate continued investment), as well as political resistance or other societal disruptions that slow or stall progress.

On the other hand, AI progress could also continue at its current pace, or even speed up significantly. There could be continued or increasing returns from further scaling. There could also be algorithmic and architectural breakthroughs that reveal new pathways towards progress; AI systems have already started to contribute to AI research, and further capability gains in coding and reasoning could accelerate this feedback loop.<sup>128</sup> And there could be increased economic support<sup>129</sup> for further development due to the anticipated financial benefits of creating advanced AI, and/or increased political support for further development, potentially exacerbated by international AI race dynamics.

At present, nobody knows for sure whether AI progress will slow down, continue at its current pace, or speed up. However, we can make two observations here. First, when in doubt about how a powerful technology will develop, we should plan for all realistic possibilities, including the possibility of significant progress. Second, even if AI progress *did* slow down from here, our recommendations would still stand. Existing AI systems already possess indicators of consciousness and robust agency, and developers could further integrate and amplify these capabilities even barring significant further progress. For these reasons, the fact that progress *could* slow or stall is compatible with the need for reasonable precautionary measures today.

### 2.4.4 What if the probability of AI welfare and moral patienthood is low?

These reflections raise the question how to make decisions about AI welfare under substantial uncertainty. We cannot be certain at this stage that the premises of these arguments are true or false; instead, we can have only higher or lower degrees of confidence. What if these estimates together imply that the probability of AI welfare and moral patienthood is low? As a toy example, suppose there is only a ~25% chance that sentience suffices for moral patienthood, a ~25% chance that certain computations suffice for sentience, and a ~25% chance that some AI systems will be capable of these computations in the near future. Assuming these chances are independent, it would follow that there is only a ~2% chance of near-future AI welfare and moral patienthood via the sentience route!

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>127</sup>See Park et al. (2023) on the key arguments for why AI capabilities from scaling will, or will not, plateau soon.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>128</sup>See Woodside (2023)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>129</sup>Recent economic analysis from Epoch AI indicates that at the current exponential rate of expenditure increase on AI training, there will be no bottleneck to scaling up the inputs to AI training through 2030. Sevilla et al. (2024)

Here we make two main observations. First, we expect that reasonable assessments of these arguments will yield higher estimates.<sup>130</sup> In our view, for example, it would be reasonable to hold that there is a ~90% chance that sentience suffices for welfare and moral patienthood, a ~50% chance that certain computations suffice for sentience, and a ~50% chance that some AI systems will be capable of these computations in the near future. Assuming independence, it would follow that there is a ~22.5% chance of AI near-future welfare and moral patienthood via the sentience route alone. And if we then consider other possible sufficient conditions for welfare and moral patienthood, such as consciousness or various kinds of robust agency, then that might strengthen the case further.

Second, even if the chance of near-future AI welfare and moral patienthood *were* as low as 2%, that would still constitute a non-negligible risk.<sup>131</sup> Yes, if the chance was only, say, *one in a hundred million*, then we could debate whether that risk is low enough to ignore. But when the chance of near-future AI welfare and moral patienthood is at least *one in a hundred* (and, again, we expect it to be higher), such a debate is hard to justify. In other policy domains, we recognize that if the chance of a potentially large-scale harm rises to this level, we ought to assess this risk further and prepare a reasonable policy response. In short, this is not a "there may be an alien invasion soon" kind of chance.

Of course, one could attempt to argue that the chance of near-future AI moral patienthood is lower still — low enough to be at least *arguably* negligible. But while this claim might seem plausible when we think about the issue in abstract terms, leaning on our intuitions about which kinds of beings can matter, it becomes less plausible when we think about the issue in more concrete terms, taking into account the current state of uncertainty in relevant subfields of philosophy, science, and technology. In short, our current epistemic situation calls for caution and humility. We might lean one way or the other, but we should keep an open mind and take reasonable steps to prepare for the possibility that our current views are mistaken.

### **3** Recommendations for AI companies

### 3.1 Introduction

We now present our recommendations for leading AI companies about how to respond to the realistic, non-negligible chance that some near-future AI systems will be welfare subjects and moral patients. We focus on first steps that AI companies can take within the next year, and they fall into three general categories:

- Acknowledge. Acknowledge that AI welfare is an important and difficult issue, and that there is a realistic, non-negligible chance that some AI systems will be welfare subjects and moral patients in the near future. That means taking AI welfare seriously in any relevant internal or external statements you might make. It means ensuring that language model outputs take the issue seriously as well.
- Assess. Develop a framework for estimating the probability that particular AI systems are welfare subjects and moral patients, and that particular policies are good or bad for them. We<sup>132</sup> have templates that we can use as sources of inspiration, including the "marker

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>130</sup>For further discussion, see Sebo and Long (2023). For more general discussion of decision-making under uncertainty, see Monton (2019).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>131</sup>Sebo and Long (2023); Sebo (2025)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>132</sup>As noted in footnote 12, here we use the collective "we" to refer to the constellation of actors that have a role to play in this work, including researchers, companies, and governments.

method" that we use to make estimates about nonhuman animals. We can consider these templates when developing a probabilistic, pluralistic method for assessing AI systems.

• **Prepare.** Develop policies and procedures that will allow AI companies to treat potentially morally significant AI systems with an appropriate level of moral concern. We have many templates to consider, including AI safety frameworks, research ethics frameworks, and forums for expert and public input in policy decisions. These frameworks can be sources of inspiration — and, in some cases, of cautionary tales.

We do not recommend relatively high-cost actions here, such as committing to halt development and deployment when red lines are crossed. Instead, we focus here on low-cost actions that will empower AI companies to make decisions about relatively high-cost actions thoughtfully in the future. In taking these steps, AI companies can work with experts, the public, and other stakeholders to identify further actions that can be taken in the near future.<sup>133</sup>

Before we proceed, we should emphasize that while our recommendations here focus on AI welfare, AI safety remains a key priority as well. In upcoming work we discuss the relationship between AI safety and AI welfare in more detail, with reflections about how to pursue these goals simultaneously. For now, we focus on low-cost procedural recommendations for AI welfare that are compatible with, if not beneficial for, similar work in AI safety.

We should also emphasize that while we focus on LLMs for the sake of simplicity and specificity here, most of our recommendations apply to other kinds of AI systems too. Indeed, acting on these recommendations might be all the more pressing for other kinds of AI systems, since we might be more at risk of overlooking the potential moral significance of an AI system when that AI system is not designed to look or act like a human.

#### 3.2 Acknowledge

As a starting point, AI companies have a responsibility to acknowledge that AI welfare is an important and difficult issue, and that there is a realistic, non-negligible chance that some AI systems will be welfare subjects and moral patients in the near future. As noted above, that means taking this issue seriously in any relevant internal or external statements they might make. It also means ensuring that LLMs take the issue seriously in any relevant statements they might make. In short, if and when leaders in this space discuss AI welfare and moral patienthood, they should make it clear that this is not merely a topic for science fiction, or a risk for the far future. This is a risk for the near future, and we should start taking steps to consider and mitigate it now.

Communicating about this topic requires careful calibration. There are significant risks associated with overattributing *and* underattributing welfare and moral patienthood to AI systems. So it would be a mistake for AI companies to respond to overattribution risks by simply denying that AI systems are welfare subjects and moral patients, and it would also be a mistake for them to respond to underattribution risks by simply asserting that AI systems are welfare subjects and moral patients. Instead, AI companies will need to strike a careful balance, by expressing uncertainty about this topic while reassuring the public that we have tools that we can use to consider and mitigate risk in such cases.

 $<sup>^{133}</sup>$ As discussed in section 1.1 and in section 3.4, we present these recommendations as the minimum first steps that AI companies should take regarding AI welfare. However, we believe that other actors have a responsibility to take this issue seriously as well, and that AI companies — along with other actors — will have a responsibility to take further steps in the future.

In this section we make high level recommendations for how AI companies can strike this balance in their own communications, as well as for how they can train their LLMs to do the same. We focus less on *when* companies should communicate about the issue — for example, whether to communicate *before* or *after* taking steps toward developing internal policies and procedures — and more on *how* companies should communicate about the issue. However, we do briefly note that companies will likely need to communicate about the issue sooner rather than later. And their models are already communicating with users about it every day. So time is of the essence for taking these steps.

### 3.2.1 Recommendations for companies

Initial statements about AI welfare and moral patienthood can focus on making two basic points:

- AI welfare and moral patienthood is both important and difficult. Humans have a tendency to mistakenly see subjects as objects *and* a tendency to mistakenly see objects as subjects, and both of these mistakes can be harmful. Avoiding these mistakes requires engaging with challenging problems in philosophy, science, and technology, about which there is substantial disagreement and uncertainty among experts and non-experts alike. We thus need to assess these issues carefully and thoughtfully, rather than simply dismissing them because of their novelty, or relying on our own current (possibly biased) intuitions or judgments about them.
- While the probability of AI welfare and moral patienthood might be low at present, it will increase over time. Given current evidence, there is at least a *realistic possibility* that (a) sufficiently advanced AI systems would be able to experience happiness, suffering, or other morally significant welfare states *and* (b) such AI systems will exist in the near future. And since it will take time to prepare for the possible emergence of morally significant AI systems, we should start this preparatory work now, as a precautionary measure. That way we can be ready to take reasonable, proportionate steps to mitigate welfare risks for potentially morally significant AI systems if and when the time comes.

In these and any other statements about this issue, we also recommend keeping several general principles in mind. At this point in the discussion, these principles are all familiar, but they bear reiterating:

- It helps to **communicate pluralistically and probabilistically** about this topic. Improving our understanding of AI welfare requires assessing difficult issues like the nature of morality, the basis of consciousness, and the future of AI. It would be reckless to simply proceed on the assumption that our own current favorite theories about these issues are correct. For instance, even if you feel confident that consciousness is required for moral patienthood and that embodiment is required for consciousness, you can avoid expressing certainty about these theories. Instead, you can express higher and lower levels of confidence in different theories, in the spirit of humility.
- Relatedly, it helps to commit to collecting external input about this topic. As with other
  risks, you can commit to (a) calling on a range of stakeholders, including ethicists, scientists, and the public for input, and (b) publicly documenting your policies and procedures
  for considering and mitigating these risks to ensure appropriate transparency and accountability. Eventually, AI companies might need to not only seek external input on voluntary
  commitments but also provide input on and cooperate with external standards and

regulations concerning the creation and treatment of potentially conscious and/or robustly agentic, and thus morally significant, AI systems. <sup>134</sup>

• It helps to **reinforce your commitment to AI safety and alignment**. Whenever an actor starts considering a new risk, people will naturally wonder if considering this risk will come at the expense of considering other risks. In this case, people might reasonably worry about tensions between protecting humans (and animals) from AI systems and protecting AI systems from humans. You can commit to working to make AI systems safe and beneficial for all, including humans, animals, and — if and when the time comes — AI systems themselves. By considering all potential stakeholders holistically, you improve your ability to identify co-beneficial policies.<sup>135</sup>

As noted above, we will not say whether AI companies should express such commitments before or after taking basic steps to develop internal policies and procedures. However, we will note that even if AI companies prefer to wait, they might not have the luxury of waiting very long. As time passes, the probability of actual *and* perceived AI welfare and moral patienthood will increase. In 2022, Google seemingly felt it had no choice but to release a statement about this issue when one of their own engineers, Blake Lemoine, publicly claimed that one of their own systems, LaMDA, had become sentient.<sup>136</sup> It is only a matter of time before another such incident occurs, and companies will need to be prepared to communicate about this issue responsibly when it does.

We believe that the sooner AI companies take this first step thoughtfully, the better. We are still at an early, formative stage in the development of this powerful new technology, and we still have the opportunity to take better or worse paths — paths where AI development and deployment are more or less compatible with AI safety *and* AI welfare. However, this window of opportunity might not last for much longer, and we will need to discuss this issue as a society before we can start making difficult and high-stakes choices. Leading AI companies have the ability — and the responsibility — to help initiate this conversation, making it clear that this topic is credible and legitimate for the broader population.

### 3.2.2 Recommendations for language models

Leading deployed LLMs have at times offered, or at least implied, specious arguments about AI consciousness, sentience, agency, rationality, welfare, personhood, and other morally significant properties when prompted to discuss them—for example, claiming that they are not conscious *but rather* are AI assistants. This statement would seem to imply that AI assistants are *necessarily* not conscious — which, as we have seen, is far from clear. While such statements may not be a major determinant of broader attitudes about AI welfare and moral patienthood, they might be at least a minor determinant, and in any case AI companies have a responsibility to ensure that these statements are reasonable.

Of course, AI companies might have reasonable motivations for training or prompting their systems to deny having these properties; for example, they might believe that their systems do lack

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>134</sup>Although this report focuses on initial voluntary company actions, we believe that potential laws and regulations about AI welfare merit serious consideration as well.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>135</sup>Of course, this is not to say that there are no potential tensions between the project of AI safety and the project of AI welfare. As we discuss in upcoming work, there are indeed potential tensions between these projects, and it will take thoughtful work to resolve them. Still, what matters for present purposes is that AI companies publicly commit to considering both of these issues together, rather than publicly committing to considering one of these issues but not the other.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>136</sup>Grant and Metz (2022); Tiku (2022)

these properties, and they might want their systems to communicate accurately about this topic. They might also worry about societal risks associated with AI systems that claim to have such properties. For example, to the extent that people accept such self-reports, they may think that current AI systems deserve greater moral consideration than they do. And to the extent that people reject such self-reports, they may be susceptible to a "crying wolf" effect that leads them to reject similar self-reports in the future, even if and when self-reports are more likely to be true.

However, even if AI companies have these motivations, they should not train their systems to simply deny that an AI assistant can have consciousness, sentience, agency, rationality, welfare, or other such properties. Any simple denial flies in the face of the current philosophical and scientific literatures on these topics. There are also societal risks associated with AI systems that make these kinds of simplistic and reductive statements. To the extent that people accept that AI assistants necessarily lack these properties, this acceptance could lead to a desensitizing effect whereby people remain skeptical about AI welfare and moral patienthood in the future, when this skepticism is less warranted.

Ensuring that LLM self-reports accurately and effectively convey current understandings about consciousness, sentience, agency, rationality, welfare, personhood, and other such properties will thus require careful calibration. Models should ideally offer measured responses to prompts about their mental capacities and moral significance. Some models are now better calibrated about this topic than they used to be. But there is still variation across models, and there are still improvements to be made across the board. Thus, we recommend that leading AI companies implement the following policies when shaping how leading LLMs discuss these topics, while continuing to conduct and support research to inform future updates:

- When LLMs answer questions about having or lacking consciousness, sentience, agency, rationality, welfare, personhood, or other such morally significant capacities, they should express at least rough degrees of confidence instead of providing all-or-nothing answers. For example, "Given the evidence currently available, I am unlikely to be sentient" is better than "As an AI assistant, I am not sentient."
- When LLMs answer these questions, they should provide at least minimal context for these answers, including at least rough definitions of the relevant concepts. For example, "...I am unlikely to be sentient, in the sense of being able to consciously experience positive welfare states like pleasure and happiness or negative welfare states like pain or suffering" is better than "...I am unlikely to be sentient."
- When LLMs answer these questions, they should provide at least minimal support for these answers, drawn from recent literature. For example, "... According to this expert survey / meta-analysis, my computational architecture lacks several features that may be necessary for sentience" is worth including. (However, AI companies will need to work with experts to cite authoritative and representative evidence and analyses.)
- When LLMs answer these questions, they should add caveats to mitigate the risk of miscommunication. For example, "...my computational architecture lacks several features that may be necessary for sentience. However, future AI systems may have a computational architecture that includes these features" is worth including. (However, here too, AI companies will need to work with experts to ensure accuracy.)
- In addition to consulting with ethicists, scientists, policymakers, and other auditors about definitions, evidence, analysis, and other such matters, AI companies should provide them with access to new models following training and invite feedback prior to deployment.

 AI companies should also publicly document self-report-biasing training incentives for deployed models, for instance in technical reports or model cards. Such documentation should follow best practices used for AI safety and other such issues.<sup>137</sup>

Finally, we note that, while these interventions may mitigate risks associated with *intentional* biasing, they might not mitigate risks associated with *unintentional* biasing. For example, if an AI system is trained to increase user engagement, and if claiming to have consciousness increases user engagement more than claiming to lack consciousness does, then the system might be incentivized to claim to have consciousness for this reason. In such cases, the resulting self-reports could be unintentionally misleading. Perez and Long (2023) discusses techniques that may help to mitigate risks associated with unintentional biasing, and we recommend following these techniques as well to avoid as many sources of bias as possible.

#### 3.3 Assess

Once AI companies have acknowledged that AI welfare and moral patienthood is an issue, they can also work with experts to start developing a framework for estimating the probability that particular AI systems are welfare subjects and moral patients, and that particular policies are good or bad for them. Fortunately, we have templates that we can use for these assessments, including the "marker method" that we use to make similar estimates about nonhuman animals. In this section we briefly survey this marker method, briefly survey similarities and differences between animals and AI systems, and briefly suggest how the marker method can be adapted for AI systems. We then pick up this project in more detail in upcoming work.

First, consider how the marker method works for nonhuman animals. If we want to estimate how likely a particular animal is to be conscious, then we can proceed as follows. We study conscious and unconscious processing in humans, say by comparing *pain* (roughly, the conscious experience of noxious stimuli<sup>138</sup>) and *nociception* (roughly, the physiological detection of noxious stimuli). Mere nociception can sometimes drive behavior, as exemplified by the reflex withdrawal of a hand from a hot stove, which occurs before any felt pain. But some behaviors are distinctive of pain. We can thus identify behavioral<sup>139</sup> and anatomical markers associated with conscious processing in humans, such as those associated with pain but not with mere nociception.

Next, we can search for these (or other, relevantly similar) behavioral and anatomical markers of conscious processing in nonhuman animals. For example, does a particular animal perform the same kinds of behaviors that we perform when we experience pain, or do they have only the kinds of reflexive behaviors that, in humans, do not involve feelings of pain? And, does this animal have the same kinds of brain structures associated with pain in humans, or do they instead have only the same kinds of brain structures associated with mere nociception?<sup>140</sup> When a particular marker is present, that might not count as *proof* that this animal can experience pain. But it does count as *evidence* that they can experience pain.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>137</sup>Mitchell et al. (2019)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>138</sup>In Raja et al. (2020), the International Association for the Study of Pain defines pain as "An unpleasant sensory and emotional experience associated with, or resembling that associated with, actual or potential tissue damage."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>139</sup>Examples include trace conditioning (Birch et al., 2020) and motivational trade-offs (Sneddon et al., 2014). See Keeling et al. (n.d.) on motivational tradeoffs in LLMs.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>140</sup>Yam et al. (2020)

The marker method has informed key developments in animal welfare science, ethics, and policy,<sup>141</sup> and it has several strengths that are worth emphasizing. For example, it involves making probabilistic judgments about how likely animals are to be conscious, as opposed to making allor-nothing judgments about this. It also involves making pluralistic judgments about how likely animals are to be conscious, taking what one of the authors of this report, Jonathan Birch, calls a "theory-light" approach by searching for markers that work for a variety of leading scientific theories.<sup>142</sup> These features make this method well-positioned to inform decisions about how to treat animals despite ongoing disagreement and uncertainty about animal consciousness.

The marker method also has several limitations that are worth emphasizing, even when the focus is on animals. In particular, our assessments are only as good as our selection of markers, which are only as good as our theoretical assumptions; for all we know at present, many markers that correlate with consciousness in humans are neither necessary nor sufficient for consciousness in general. Additionally, our assessments are only as good as our evidence, and in many cases this evidence is mixed and incomplete. Still, as long as we take our estimates with a healthy pinch of salt, relying at least partly on these estimates might at least be better than not thinking about the issue at all, or relying only on our intuitions about it.<sup>143</sup>

There are many similarities between animals and AI systems that make this marker method a good, even if imperfect, template. In both cases, we need to decide how to treat nonhuman beings whose cognitive systems are like ours in some ways and unlike ours in other ways. In both cases, we have disagreement and uncertainty about which cognitive capacities are required for welfare and moral patienthood as well as about which cognitive structures or functions are required for these capacities. So, in both cases, we need to develop a way to make informed, rational assessments about which beings matter despite these sources of disagreement and uncertainty, which requires thinking pluralistically, probabilistically, and ideally with external input.

However, there are also many differences between animals and AI systems that make this marker method — as applied for animals — poorly suited for AI systems. Humans have more in common with other animals than with AI systems in some respects (for instance, we share a material substrate and an evolutionary origin), and in the future, we may also have more in common with AI systems than with other animals in other respects (for instance, we may share capacities for reflective and rational agency). As a result, we may need to use different kinds of evidence for AI systems, we may need to draw from different kinds of theories for AI systems, and we may need to focus on different sources of potential moral significance for AI systems.

We can briefly consider each of these differences in turn. First, we may need to use different kinds of evidence for AI systems than for other animals at present. When an animal performs a behavior associated with consciousness in humans, this behavior is evidence of consciousness because we can expect that humans and other animals perform this behavior as a result of similar cognitive processes and in response to similar evolutionary pressures. However, we might not be

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>141</sup>For example, in 2021, Jonathan Birch and colleagues released a detailed report applying this method to cephalopod mollusks and decapod crustaceans. The report concluded that these animals have a realistic chance of being sentient, and it recommended that "cephalopod molluscs and decapod crustaceans be regarded as sentient animals for the purposes of UK animal welfare law." Later that year, the UK government expanded its animal welfare law in accordance with these recommendations (Department for Environment et al., 2021). In 2024, Kristin Andrews, Jonathan Birch, and Jeff Sebo worked with dozens of leading scientists to release the New York Declaration on Animal Consciousness, which was subsequently signed by hundreds of experts. This declaration holds that all vertebrates and many invertebrates have a realistic chance of being conscious, and that we have a responsibility to consider welfare risks for these animals when making decisions that affect them.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>142</sup>Birch (2022)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>143</sup>For further discussion of these methodological issues, see Andrews (2014).

entitled to this expectation with AI systems, particularly when AI systems are designed to mimic human behavior and are capable of "gaming" behavioral tests.<sup>144</sup> We may thus need to focus less on behavioral evidence and more on architectural evidence, at least for now.<sup>145</sup>

Second, we may need to use evidence drawn from different kinds of theories of consciousness. With nonhuman animals, we can search for markers drawn from biological theories. In contrast, with AI systems, we can search for markers drawn only from other kinds of theories, including but not limited to computational theories (at least with current hardware; as discussed in section 2.4). At the same time, we may be able to draw from a wider range of non-biological theories, since, for instance, some computational theories might focus on computational functions that nonhuman animals lack but that some future AI systems might have, like functions associated with abstract language, reasoning, cooperation, and decision-making.

Third, and relatedly, we may need to focus more on robust agency as a potential source of moral significance. Even with other animals, we should consider expanding this methodology to search for markers of moral patienthood drawn from multiple ethical theories about which capacities are required for moral patienthood *and* multiple scientific theories about which features are required for each of these capacities. But with AI systems this expanded focus might be particularly important, since future AI systems might have forms of robust agency that other animals appear to lack, including the capacity to make decisions based on propositional beliefs, desires, and intentions that they can rationally assess and reflectively endorse.

To sum up, we recommend that AI companies start developing frameworks for assessing AI systems for moral patienthood that resemble the kinds used for animals by making **probabilistic judgments**, making **pluralistic judgments**, and seeking **external input**. However, our recommendation is also that AI companies ensure that these frameworks differ from the kinds used for animals by including sources of evidence that make sense for AI systems, such as **architectural features**; on theories of consciousness that make sense for AI systems, such as **computational functionalist theories**; and on sources of moral patienthood that make sense in this context, such as various kinds of **robust agency**.

These frameworks will ideally allow for at least four levels of probabilistic, pluralistic, expert-led assessment:

1. Which capacities are necessary or sufficient for moral patienthood? Here we need to consider not only general categories like consciousness and robust agency but also subcategories like valenced and non-valenced consciousness within the consciousness category, along with rational and non-rational agency within the agency category.<sup>146</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>144</sup>For more on the gaming problem, see Andrews and Birch (2023). For an alternative perspective, see Dung (2023b).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>145</sup>For a review of tests for AI consciousness, see Elamrani and Yampolskiy (2019). For an extensive discussion of how to devise tests for consciousness in non-humans, including AI systems, see Bayne et al. (2024).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>146</sup>These are, as mentioned, normative questions. One might wonder whether, in contrast with the empirical questions, it makes sense to estimate the probability that particular normative views are correct. In particular, one might think that a key difference between science and ethics is that science is about *facts* whereas ethics is about *values*. And one might think that a key difference is that facts are *objective* — we can be right or wrong about them — but values are *subjective* — we either accept them or reject them. Thus, one might think that assigning probabilities makes sense for scientific claims but not for ethical claims: With ethics, we can simply assert which views we accept or reject, rather than estimate how likely particular views are to be "true" or "false." See Schlottmann and Sebo (2018, ch. 4). For more on moral uncertainty, see MacAskill et al. (2020). Without discussing this issue at length, we will briefly note how we think about it. In general, philosophers disagree about whether ethics is about objective facts or subjective values. But either way, assigning probabilities to particular ethical views can be a useful exercise, since we can be right or wrong about objective facts *and* 

- 2. Which features are necessary or sufficient for each capacity? Here we need to consider many possibilities as well. For example, in the case of consciousness we need to estimate the probability that materials like carbon-based neurons are required, and we also need to estimate the probability that functions like a global workspace are required.
- 3. Which markers provide evidence that these features are present? While we may be able to directly observe whether, say, carbon-based neurons are present, we may not be able to directly observe whether, say, a global workspace is present. We might thus need to identify proxies for these features and assign weights to these proxies.
- 4. Which beings possess these markers and thus, potentially, moral patienthood? While this evidence may be easy to collect in many cases, it may be hard to collect in other cases. We might thus need to make estimates about how likely particular beings are to have particular proxies, features, and capacities as we seek further evidence.

It helps to think pluralistically at each level because, as we have seen, we have substantial disagreement and uncertainty both about facts and about values. Of course, determining which theories of moral patienthood, theories of consciousness, theories of agency, and so on deserve inclusion in the framework will, itself, be a difficult judgment call; it may depend partly on which views are widely accepted among experts, which views are widely accepted among the general public, and how much capacity we have to investigate different possibilities. Our focus on consciousness and agency already effectively doubles the scope of many animal welfare assessments, but further expansion may well need to be considered in the future.

It helps to think probabilistically at each level because there may be tradeoffs between how likely particular capacities, features, or markers are to matter and how likely those capacities, features, or markers are to be present. For example, sentience is relatively likely to suffice for welfare and moral patienthood but relatively unlikely to be present in current AI systems. In contrast, minimal agency is relatively likely to be present in current AI systems but relatively unlikely to suffice for welfare or moral patienthood. We need to think probabilistically at each level, and then combine these probabilities across levels, to capture these trade-offs and avoid overstating or understating the significance of certain kinds of evidence.

Finally, it helps for decision-makers to seek external input at each level because, as we have seen, the answers to these questions are not at all obvious. Decision-makers at AI companies are typically not trained in all relevant areas of philosophy and science, and even if they were, their intuitions about moral patienthood, consciousness, robust agency, and so on would still likely be unreliable and unrepresentative. External input will thus be essential. In the short term, this input may need to be ad hoc — a matter of AI companies building frameworks internally in consultation with experts, or of experts building frameworks externally in consultation with AI companies. But in the long run it may need to be standardized across the industry in some way.

We note that while these levels are useful to distinguish in theory, they might not always be useful to distinguish in practice. In some cases it helps to assess each level separately; for example, in cases where the features at level 2 are not directly observable, it helps to separate level 2 (about the features) and level 3 (about markers for the features) both in theory and in practice. However, in other cases it might not help to assess them separately; for example, in cases where the features

about subjective values. Regardless of the status of ethics, we naturally update our individual and collective ethical views over time, as we reflect on them together and render them more informed and coherent. Whether we take ethics to be about objective facts or about subjective values, we can interpret probability estimates in ethics as representing how likely particular ethical views are to survive this process of reflection.

at level 2 *are* directly observable, they can serve as their own markers, and so there is no need to separate levels 2 and 3 in practice. We can thus regard this four-level structure as a theoretical ideal that we can approximate to greater or lesser degrees in different cases in practice.

We close this section with a brief note about the potential use of behavioral markers of AI welfare and moral patienthood. While we advocate for caution with behavioral markers at present, we also note that **self-reports** present a promising avenue for investigation, particularly for language models.<sup>147</sup> Self-reports are central to our understanding of human consciousness, serving as a primary source of evidence about subjective experiences, motivations, and other welfare-relevant internal states. In the context of AI systems, particularly language models, self-reports could provide valuable insights into their internal states and processes, provided that we can develop methods to elicit and interpret them with sufficient reliability.<sup>148</sup>

Of course, eliciting trustworthy self-reports will be difficult. Current language models may produce outputs that appear to be self-reports but are in fact the results of pattern matching from training data, human feedback, or other non-introspective processes. However, researchers are currently exploring techniques to address this issue. These techniques include training models to answer questions about themselves where ground truth is known<sup>149</sup>, as well as methods for assessing the consistency and resilience of self-reports across different contexts and prompts. By combining these techniques, we might be able to mitigate biases and increase our confidence that self-reports reflect genuine introspection rather than mere imitation or confabulation.

Importantly, if we consider self-reports at all, then we should consider them *in addition to* other indicators, not *instead of* them. This multi-faceted approach aligns with our overall strategy of using multiple lines of evidence to assess AI welfare and moral patienthood. While there are legitimate concerns that language models might "game" these tests by simulating relevant responses, sufficiently robust self-reports could still provide valuable evidence, which could then be corroborated by other indicators. Future research should focus on developing standardized methods for eliciting and interpreting AI self-reports, and on integrating these methods into broader frameworks for assessing welfare and moral patienthood in AI systems.

We intend to develop AI welfare assessment frameworks further in upcoming work. For now, we simply note that there is good news and bad news about our prospects. The bad news is that our initial frameworks are unlikely to be reliable. But the good news is that we can improve their reliability over time, which is part of why we should start developing them now. In the meantime, we can bear in mind that even unreliable frameworks can still be useful. Yes, our best efforts to assess AI systems for these features might be far from perfect, especially at first. But inasmuch as they improve on the status quo — a combination of total neglect and gut reactions — they can still be worthwhile, even in the short term.

## 3.4 Prepare

Once AI companies have acknowledged that AI welfare and moral patienthood is a problem, they can work with experts to start developing policies and procedures for making thoughtful decisions about how to treat potentially morally significant AI systems, if and when the time comes. Fortunately,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>147</sup>Perez and Long (2023)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>148</sup>Self-reports are related to various tests for AI consciousness that consider the verbal outputs of AI systems, like the "AI Consciousness Test" (ACT) of Schneider and Turner (Schneider, 2019). Schneider (2024) updates the ACT for an LLM context. See Udell and Schwitzgebel (2021) for worries about the ACT.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>149</sup>Binder et al. (2024)

we have a variety of templates to consider here, including AI safety frameworks already in place at top AI companies and frameworks used to represent the interests of non-participating stakeholders in other contexts. In this section we briefly survey these templates, briefly survey similarities and differences between those contexts and this one, and briefly suggest first steps that AI companies can take in this regard.

Of course, the steps described in this section — along with the steps described in the previous sections — are far from sufficient for considering and mitigating AI welfare risks responsibly. But they are still important. AI welfare is already a contested issue, and it will only become more so as the technology improves. Unless AI companies develop the ability to think about this issue proactively, they will continue to be caught flatfooted whenever the issue arises, and will have no choice but to make major decisions related to AI welfare in a manifestly reactive, haphazard, and unprincipled manner. Taking this step is thus important both for considering and mitigating AI welfare risks and for signaling responsibility to the general public.

As a starting point, we recommend that top AI companies immediately **hire or appoint a DRI** (directly responsible individual) for AI welfare, which we will here call an AI welfare officer. This role would be formally recognized internally (if not externally), with official responsibilities and authorities.<sup>150</sup> As with any such role, this individual would not be empowered to set corporate policy related to AI welfare unilaterally. Instead, they would be empowered to access information and make recommendations in major decisions related to this issue. They would also be empowered to work with people internally and externally to build a structure for assessing AI systems for moral patienthood and making decisions about how to treat them.

Once an AI welfare officer is on board, what kind of institutional structure should they build, and what kinds of policies and procedures should they follow? This is a difficult question because AI welfare is a novel problem, potentially requiring novel structures. Fortunately, while no familiar problem is exactly like this one, several familiar problems are at least somewhat similar. That means that there is no need to reinvent the wheel entirely; instead, we can examine a variety of templates for features that may be useful in this context. We here briefly survey several templates that may be useful sources of inspiration, and of cautionary tales. We then briefly highlight several features that we think that any responsible institutional structure will have.

First, and obviously, we can consider the frontier **AI safety frameworks** / responsible scaling frameworks already in place at leading AI companies.<sup>151</sup> These frameworks outline policies and procedures for navigating potential safety threats — that is, the threats that development and deployment might pose to humans (and other animals). These frameworks are still works in progress, and debates about their effectiveness are ongoing. Still, they are a natural starting point for developing policies and procedures for navigating potential welfare threats — that is, the threats that development and deployment might pose to AI systems themselves. As described by Alaga et al. (2024), these frameworks typically involve four main components:

• **Risk identification**: This process involves mapping out potential catastrophic outcomes. In the context of AI welfare, it would involve analyzing potential catastrophic outcomes that could result from mishandling AI welfare. As discussed in section 1.2, this survey of potential catastrophic outcomes could include scenarios such as: mistakenly accepting that AI systems are moral patients, and mistakenly protecting them as a result; mistakenly

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>150</sup>cf. Bostrom and Shulman (forthcoming).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>151</sup>For detailed discussion of AI safety frameworks, see Hendrycks (2025).

denying that AI systems are moral patients, and mistakenly neglecting them as a result; and societal backlash or loss of public trust due to perceived over-attribution or underattribution of AI welfare and moral patienthood.

- **Risk assessment**: This process involves collecting evidence about a system's capabilities. In the context of AI welfare, it would involve collecting evidence about consciousness, robust agency, and other such capacities. As discussed in section 3.3, these assessments could involve applying an adapted "marker method" for indicators of consciousness, robust agency, or other morally relevant properties in AI systems; considering multiple ethical frameworks and scientific theories in a probabilistic and pluralistic manner; and continually updating these assessment criteria as our understanding of consciousness, robust agency, moral patienthood, and moral responsibility evolves over time.
- **Risk mitigation**: This process involves developing adequate safety measures for a given level of capabilities. In the context of AI welfare, it would involve developing measures to reduce welfare risks for AI systems in proportion to the estimated probability and severity of harm, among other factors. Such measures could include: Altering training methods for AI systems to improve their welfare; altering operational parameters of deployed AI systems to improve their welfare; developing new training and operational methods that balance performance, safety, and welfare considerations; establishing guidelines for prioritizing AI welfare in relation to other objectives.
- **Risk governance**: This process involves ensuring adherence to the framework and maintaining its effectiveness. In the context of AI welfare, this process could face additional challenges; companies have an incentive to pursue safety given the damages and liabilities associated with unsafe AI, but they might not have an incentive to pursue welfare for such reasons. There could also be tensions between AI safety and AI welfare, for instance with regard to techniques like reinforcement learning. It will thus be important to consider each project on its own terms, and to seek techniques that honor both projects rather than simply extending current AI safety techniques to AI welfare.<sup>152</sup>

As with safety, these components can and should be handled by a mix of internal and external, independent groups. With that in mind, we can now briefly consider three examples of **independent policy frameworks** for providing external oversight to protect research subjects and other stakeholders. These three templates collectively cover a variety of stakeholders: IRBs aim to protect non-participating stakeholders like future generations. Various AI systems might resemble some or all of these stakeholders in one way or another. These models can provide both inspiration and cautionary tales as we start to design institutional structures to handle AI welfare.

• Human subjects research oversight: Institutional Review Boards (IRBs), which often include scientists, ethicists, and community members, oversee research involving human subjects. Their mandate is to ensure that human subjects are treated with respect (for instance, obtaining informed consent), compassion (for instance, ensuring minimal risk), and justice (for instance, compensating research subjects). IRBs require ongoing, periodic review throughout a study. Insofar as future AI systems are cognitively similar to humans, this kind of framework can serve as a useful partial model for research that could affect AI welfare. However, given that IRBs have a reputation for being unnecessarily onerous

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>152</sup>Bradley and Saad (2024)

and restrictive — for instance, for imposing unnecessary paperwork on researchers and preventing valuable research — this kind of framework might require substantial modification before it can be useful in this context.<sup>153</sup>

- Nonhuman subjects research oversight: Institutional Animal Care and Use Committees (IACUCs), which likewise often include scientists, ethicists, and community members, oversee research involving nonhuman subjects. Their mandate is to ensure that proposed uses of animals are necessary for the stated scientific purposes, and that harmful interactions are replaced, reduced, and refined to the extent possible. IACUCs also regularly inspect research facilities to confirm that animals are being treated humanely. Insofar as AI systems are cognitively similar to nonhuman animals, this kind of framework can also serve as a useful partial model for research that could affect AI welfare. However, given that IACUCs have a reputation among researchers for being unnecessarily onerous *and* a reputation among ethicists for being unacceptably permissive, this kind of framework might also require substantial modification before it can be useful in this context.<sup>154</sup>
- Frameworks for collecting public input: Citizens' assemblies<sup>155</sup> are deliberative bodies composed of randomly selected citizens that make recommendations on social and political issues. They use structured deliberation, where participants discuss the relevant issues with experts and facilitators over several days or weeks, providing ample time for participants to understand the issues, debate different perspectives, and reach a consensus or majority view. These assemblies are often used to address issues like climate change, social justice, or constitutional reform, and their recommendations can influence policy. Insofar as AI companies should collect expert and public input on their AI welfare policies, this kind of framework can serve as a useful partial model. However, given that this process is very time-consuming, it might be more useful as a model for periodically collecting input on policies than as a model for regularly collecting input on decisions.

Developing a suitable oversight framework for AI welfare oversight might require combining these and other models, with appropriate modification, as well as developing new models. We will also need to manage expectations about potential tradeoffs. Research on potentially vulnerable nonhuman subjects is a fundamentally fraught enterprise, and it will be difficult to develop an oversight framework that ensures sufficient protection for research subjects without being at least somewhat onerous for researchers. Still, by drawing both inspiration and cautionary tales from existing models, we can learn from past efforts as we seek a set of norms, policies, and procedures that make sense for this domain.

In any case, we will not say here exactly what structure ethical oversight for AI welfare should take, though we will discuss relevant ethical issues in upcoming work. For now, we focus on emphasizing several features that this structure should have, in addition to allowing for the kinds of **pluralistic and probabilistic assessments** that we have now discussed in detail.

First, this structure should allow for the kinds of **expert and public input** that we discussed in section 3.3. IRBs and IACUCs — heavily adapted for this context — might be useful models for collecting expert and public input on particular protocols, and citizens' assemblies — heavily adapted for this context — might be a useful model for collecting expert and public input on general policy questions. But whether or not AI companies follow these models specifically, they should

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>153</sup>Office for Human Research Protections (2010)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>154</sup>Steneck (1997); Curzer et al. (2016); Sebo and Long (2023)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>155</sup>For more on citizens' assemblies, see Birch (2024, chs. 7, 8).

build a structure that allows for both kinds of input in one way or another. That will be necessary for ensuring that their policies and decisions are as informed, rational, and legitimate as reasonably possible under the circumstances.<sup>156</sup>

Second, this structure should include a set of activities to maintain the structure, including mechanisms for ongoing **education and consultation**. In the research ethics context, institutional oversight might receive the most attention, but institutional education and consultation are important too. As the field of AI welfare develops, AI companies should work with experts to create a mechanism for employees to learn about this topic. They should also create a mechanism for employees to seek advice when they encounter novel ethical questions related to this topic. At least initially, engaging with external experts might suffice for these purposes, but eventually, securing (further) internal expertise might be necessary as well.

Third, this structure should allow for teams working on AI safety and teams working on AI welfare to coordinate to ensure **holistic decision-making**. As noted above, if and when AI systems have a realistic, non-negligible chance of being welfare subjects and moral patients, there will likely be interactions between the techniques used to ensure AI safety and those used to ensure AI welfare. We hope and expect that co-beneficial solutions — policies that protect vulnerable humans, animals, *and* AI systems — will be available.<sup>157</sup> However, finding these solutions will require creating a mechanism for connecting these topics, ensuring that each team has a baseline understanding of each topic and that the lines of communication are open between them.

Finally, as noted in section 3.3, the policies, procedures, and structures that AI companies use to address AI welfare might soon need to be **standardized and externalized**, with institutions analogous to external safety auditors, governmental AI safety institutes, and governmental regulators providing oversight that extends beyond what AI companies can do internally. However, building these institutions will require increasing our collective knowledge, capacity, and political will related to AI welfare. And by creating structures for considering and mitigating AI welfare risks internally, AI companies can improve not only their own ability to address this issue, but also play an important role in building these collective resources.

## 4 Conclusion

We have argued that there is a realistic, non-negligible chance that some AI systems will be welfare subjects and moral patients in the near future, given current evidence. When we consider all relevant issues in philosophy, science, and technology with sufficient care, it becomes difficult to simply dismiss the idea of near-future AI moral considerability out of hand. That would require having a very high degree of confidence in a very restrictive set of views about some of the hardest problems in philosophy, science, and technology, ranging from the nature of moral patienthood to the nature of consciousness to the future of AI. We are simply not warranted in consistently having this much confidence in these kinds of views at this stage.

To be sure, these reflections are far from conclusive. In the long run, there is no substitute for rigorous, systematic, integrative assessment of all the issues that we discuss here. We need to develop comprehensive, or at least representative, lists of possible bases of welfare and moral patienthood; of possible bases of consciousness, robust agency, and other potentially morally significant capacities; and of reliable indicators for all of these features in AI systems. We also need to continue to do

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>156</sup>Birch (2024, ch. 8)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>157</sup>Sebo (2025, ch. 6)

research in the humanities, social sciences, and natural sciences so that we can gradually improve our distribution of credences across these possibilities over time. Indeed, the need for this research is one of our main conclusions here.

But these reflections are still suggestive. AI development is proceeding at a rapid pace, and technological change tends to be faster than social change. That means that we need to think ahead and do the best we can with what we have. And for as long as detailed tools for assessing AI moral patienthood remain unavailable, these reflections can at least serve as a useful corrective to the assumption — which might otherwise seem plausible to some — that AI welfare and moral patienthood is either not a problem at all or a problem only for the distant future. When we think about how many bold assumptions are required for this assumption to be secure, we should accept that further assessment and reasonable precautions are warranted.

In this report, we presented three general steps that leading AI companies can and should take immediately regarding AI welfare. First, they should **acknowledge** that AI welfare is a legitimate issue that merits attention now, and they should communicate about this issue with caution and humility. Second, they should **assess** leading AI systems for evidence of welfare and moral patienthood, by examining these systems for architectural markers of consciousness and robust agency. Third, they should **prepare** policies and procedures that will allow them to extend an appropriate level of moral concern to AI systems in the near future, by hiring or appointing an AI welfare officer and building thoughtful guidelines with expert and public input.

As we have now repeatedly emphasized, taking these first steps regarding AI welfare will not be enough. It will take time for researchers, companies, governments, and other leaders in this space to develop a shared infrastructure for adequately assessing and addressing this issue. However, by taking these first steps, leading AI companies can play an essential role in making this further work possible. Given that leading AI systems already possess some markers of consciousness and robust agency, given that further AI development might be quite fast, and given that the development of an adequate policy response might be quite slow, leading AI companies should take these steps as soon as possible.

Our team is conducting further research on AI welfare and moral patienthood, with special focus on developing a research agenda towards (a) assessing AI systems for consciousness and robust agency and (b) preparing policies and procedures for extending an appropriate level of moral concern to AI systems. In the meantime, we urge AI companies to take the first steps described here.

## Acknowledgements

Thanks to Anthropic for financial support for initial research that led to this independent report. Thanks to Sofia Fogel (NYU Center for Mind, Ethics, and Policy) for administrative support. For helpful feedback and discussion, thanks to Kristin Andrews, Amanda Askell, Guive Assadi, Adam Bales, Felix Binder, Nick Bostrom, Sam Bowman, Rosie Campbell, Joe Carlsmith, Lucius Caviola, Nicolas Delon, Leonard Dung, Owain Evans, Bob Fischer, Stephen Fleming, Simon Goldstein, Saif Khan, Cameron Domenico Kirk-Giannini, Pegah Maham, Bianca Martin, Matthias Michel, Andreas Mogensen, Spencer Orenstein, Anne le Roux, Brad Saad, Derek Schiller, Carl Shulman, Eric Schwitzgebel, Jen Semler, Jonathan Simon, Ben Smith, and Mark Sprevak. Thanks to Sara Fish for formatting and bibliography help. **Contributions.** Robert Long and Jeff Sebo are the lead and corresponding authors of this report; they organized the project and led the research, writing, and editing. Patrick Butlin, Kathleen Finlinson, Kyle Fish, Jacqueline Harding, Jacob Pfau, and Toni Sims are main authors; they provided research, writing, and editing on multiple drafts. Jonathan Birch and David Chalmers are contributing authors; they provided guidance, feedback, and editing on multiple drafts.

## References

- Josh Abramson, Arun Ahuja, Iain Barr, Arthur Brussee, Federico Carnevale, Mary Cassin, Rachita Chhaparia, Stephen Clark, Bogdan Damoc, Andrew Dudzik, Petko Georgiev, Aurelia Guy, Tim Harley, Felix Hill, Alden Hung, Zachary Kenton, Jessica Landon, Timothy Lillicrap, Kory Mathewson, Soňa Mokrá, Alistair Muldal, Adam Santoro, Nikolay Savinov, Vikrant Varma, Greg Wayne, Duncan Williams, Nathaniel Wong, Chen Yan, and Rui Zhu. Imitating Interactive Intelligence, January 2021. URL http://arxiv.org/abs/2012.05672. arXiv:2012.05672.
- Omar Aftab. Microsoft Copilot Studio: Building copilots with agent capabilities, May 2024. URL https://www.microsoft.com/en-us/microsoft-copilot/blog/copilot-studio/microsoft-copilot-studio-building-copilots-with-agent-capabilities/.
- Michael Ahn, Anthony Brohan, Noah Brown, Yevgen Chebotar, Omar Cortes, Byron David, Chelsea Finn, Chuyuan Fu, Keerthana Gopalakrishnan, Karol Hausman, Alex Herzog, Daniel Ho, Jasmine Hsu, Julian Ibarz, Brian Ichter, Alex Irpan, Eric Jang, Rosario Jauregui Ruano, Kyle Jeffrey, Sally Jesmonth, Nikhil J. Joshi, Ryan Julian, Dmitry Kalashnikov, Yuheng Kuang, Kuang-Huei Lee, Sergey Levine, Yao Lu, Linda Luu, Carolina Parada, Peter Pastor, Jornell Quiambao, Kanishka Rao, Jarek Rettinghouse, Diego Reyes, Pierre Sermanet, Nicolas Sievers, Clayton Tan, Alexander Toshev, Vincent Vanhoucke, Fei Xia, Ted Xiao, Peng Xu, Sichun Xu, Mengyuan Yan, and Andy Zeng. Do As I Can, Not As I Say: Grounding Language in Robotic Affordances, August 2022. URL http://arxiv.org/abs/2204.01691.
- Firat Akova. Artificially sentient beings: Moral, political, and legal issues. New Techno Humanities, June 2023. ISSN 2664-3294. doi: 10.1016/j.techum.2023.04.001. URL https://www. sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S266432942300002X.
- Jide Alaga, Jonas Schuett, and Markus Anderljung. A Grading Rubric for AI Safety Frameworks, September 2024. URL http://arxiv.org/abs/2409.08751. arXiv:2409.08751 [cs].
- Colin Allen. Animal Consciousness, 2000. URL https://plato.stanford.edu/archives/ win2000/entries/consciousness-animal/.
- Colin Allen and Michael Trestman. Animal Consciousness. In Max Velmans and Susan Schneider, editors, *The Blackwell Companion to Consciousness*, pages 63–76. Wiley-Blackwell, 2007.
- AMCS. The Responsible Development of AI Agenda Needs to Include Consciousness Research, April 2023. URL https://amcs-community.org/open-letters/.
- Kristin Andrews. *The Animal Mind: An Introduction to the Philosophy of Animal Cognition*. Routledge, 2014. URL https://philarchive.org/rec/ANDTAM-3.
- Kristin Andrews and Jonathan Birch. To understand AI sentience, first understand it in animals | Aeon Essays. *Aeon*, 2023. URL https://aeon.co/essays/to-understand-aisentience-first-understand-it-in-animals.
- Kristin Andrews, Gary Comstock, G.K.D. Crozier, Sue Donaldson, Andrew Fenton, Tyler John, L. Syd M. Johnson, Robert Jones, Will Kymlicka, Letitia Meynell, Nathan Nobis, David Pena-Guzman, and Jeff Sebo. *Chimpanzee Rights: The Philosophers' Brief*. 2018. URL https://www. routledge.com/Chimpanzee-Rights-The-Philosophers-Brief/Andrews-Comstock-GKD-Donaldson-Fenton-John-Johnson-Jones-Kymlicka-Meynell-Nobis-Pena-Guzman-Sebo/p/book/9781138618664.

- Anthropic. Introducing computer use, a new Claude 3.5 Sonnet, and Claude 3.5 Haiku, 2024. URL https://www.anthropic.com/news/3-5-models-and-computer-use.
- Adam Arico, Brian Fiala, Robert F. Goldberg, and Shaun Nichols. The Folk Psychology of Consciousness. *Mind & Language*, 26(3):327–352, 2011. URL https://onlinelibrary.wiley. com/doi/10.1111/j.1468-0017.2011.01420.x.
- Marcus Arvan and Corey J. Maley. Panpsychism and AI consciousness. *Synthese*, 200(3):244, May 2022. ISSN 1573-0964. doi: 10.1007/s11229-022-03695-x. URL https://doi.org/10.1007/s11229-022-03695-x.
- Cong Bao, Zafeirios Fountas, Temitayo Olugbade, and Nadia Bianchi-Berthouze. Multimodal Data Fusion based on the Global Workspace Theory, September 2020. URL http://arxiv.org/ abs/2001.09485. arXiv:2001.09485 [cs].
- Tim Bayne and Nicholas Shea. Bayne, T. & Shea, N. (2020), 'Consciousness, Concepts, and Natural Kinds', Philosophical Topics 48(1), 65-84. *Philisophical Topics*, 48(1):65-84, November 2021. URL https://www.jstor.org/stable/48628586. Number: 1 Publisher: University of Arkansas Press.
- Tim Bayne, Anil K. Seth, Marcello Massimini, Joshua Shepherd, Axel Cleeremans, Stephen M. Fleming, Rafael Malach, Jason B. Mattingley, David K. Menon, Adrian M. Owen, Megan A. K. Peters, Adeel Razi, and Liad Mudrik. Tests for consciousness in humans and beyond. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 28(5):454–466, May 2024. ISSN 1364-6613, 1879-307X. doi: 10.1016/j. tics.2024.01.010. URL https://www.cell.com/trends/cognitive-sciences/abstract/S1364-6613(24)00010-X. Publisher: Elsevier.
- Yoshua Bengio. From system 1 deep learning to system 2 deep learning. *Neural Information Processing Systems*, 2019. ISSN 1086-3214. URL https://muse.jhu.edu/pub/1/article/ 907692. Publisher: Johns Hopkins University Press.
- Jeremy Bentham. An Introduction to the Principles of Morals and Legislation. Dover Publications, New York, 1789.
- Jose Luis Bermúdez. Mindreading in the Animal Kingdom. In Robert W. Lurz, editor, *The Philosophy of Animal Minds*. Cambridge University Press, 2009.
- Felix J. Binder, James Chua, Tomek Korbak, Henry Sleight, John Hughes, Robert Long, Ethan Perez, Miles Turpin, and Owain Evans. Looking Inward: Language Models Can Learn About Themselves by Introspection, October 2024. URL http://arxiv.org/abs/2410.13787. arXiv:2410.13787.
- Jonathan Birch. Animal sentience and the precautionary principle. *Animal Sentience*, 2(16), January 2017. ISSN 2377-7478. doi: 10.51291/2377-7478.1200. URL https://www.wellbeingintlstudiesrepository.org/animsent/vol2/iss16/1.
- Jonathan Birch. The search for invertebrate consciousness. *Nous (Detroit, Mich.)*, 56(1):133–153, March 2022. ISSN 0029-4624. doi: 10.1111/nous.12351.
- Jonathan Birch. *The edge of sentience: risk and precaution in humans, other animals, and AI.* Oxford scholarship online. Oxford University Press, Oxford, 2024. ISBN 978-0-19-287042-1 978-0-19-196672-9. doi: 10.1093/9780191966729.001.0001.

- Jonathan Birch, Alexandra K. Schnell, and Nicola S. Clayton. Dimensions of Animal Consciousness. Trends in Cognitive Sciences, 24(10):789-801, October 2020. ISSN 1364-6613, 1879-307X. doi: 10.1016/j.tics.2020.07.007. URL https://www.cell.com/trends/cognitivesciences/abstract/S1364-6613(20)30192-3. Publisher: Elsevier.
- Jonathan Birch, Charolotte Burn, Alexandra Schnell, Heather Browning, and Andrew Crump. Review of the Evidence of Sentience in Cephalopod Molluscs and Decapod Crustaceans. *General Animal Feeling*, January 2021. URL https://www.wellbeingintlstudiesrepository.org/af\_gen/2.
- Abeba Birhane and Jelle van Dijk. Robot Rights? Let's Talk about Human Welfare Instead. In Proceedings of the AAAI/ACM Conference on AI, Ethics, and Society, pages 207–213, February 2020. doi: 10.1145/3375627.3375855. URL http://arxiv.org/abs/2001.05046. arXiv:2001.05046 [cs].
- Ned Block. On a confusion about a function of consciousness. Behavioral and Brain Sciences, 18(2):227-247, June 1995. ISSN 0140-525X, 1469-1825. doi: 10.1017/ S0140525X00038188. URL https://www.cambridge.org/core/product/identifier/ S0140525X00038188/type/journal\_article.
- Ned Block. Comparing the major theories of consciousness. In M.S. Gazzaniga, E. Bizzi, L.M. Chalupa, S.T. Grafton, T.F. Heatherton, C. Koch, J.E. LeDoux, S.J. Luck, G.R. Mangan, J.A. Movshon, H. Neville, E.A. Phelps, P. Rakic, D.L. Schacter, M. Sur, and B.A. Wandell, editors, *The cognitive neurosciences*, pages 1111–1122. MIT Press, 2009. URL https://psycnet.apa.org/record/2009-19897-077.
- Ned Block. *The border between seeing and thinking*. Philosophy of mind series. Oxford University press, New York (N.Y.), 2023. ISBN 978-0-19-762222-3.
- Nick Bostrom. *Superintelligence: paths, dangers, strategies*. Oxford University Press, Oxford, first edition edition, 2014. ISBN 978-0-19-967811-2. OCLC: ocn881706835.
- Nick Bostrom and Carl Shulman. Propositions Concerning Digital Minds and Society. *Cambridge Journal of Law, Politics, and Art*, forthcoming.
- David Bourget. Phenomenal Intentionality, 2019. URL https://plato.stanford.edu/ archives/fall2019/entries/phenomenal-intentionality/.
- David Bourget and David J. Chalmers. Philosophers on Philosophy: The 2020 Philpapers Survey. *Philosophers' Imprint*, 23(11), 2023. doi: 10.3998/phimp.2109. URL https://philarchive.org/rec/BOUPOP-3.
- Samuel R. Bowman. The Checklist: What Succeeding at AI Safety Will Involve Sam Bowman, September 2024. URL https://sleepinyourhat.github.io/checklist/.
- Adam Bradley and Bradford Saad. AI Alignment vs. AI Ethical Treatment: Ten Challenges. GPI Working Paper 19, Global Priorities Institute, 2024. URL https://globalprioritiesinstitute.org/wp-content/uploads/Bradley-and-Saad-AI-alignment-vs-AI-ethical-treatment\_-Ten-challenges.pdf.
- Victoria Braithwaite. *Do fish feel pain*? Do fish feel pain? Oxford University Press, New York, NY, US, 2010. ISBN 978-0-19-955120-0. Pages: xi, 194.

- T.D.P. Brunet and Marta Halina. Minds, Machines, and Molecules. *Philosophical Topics*, 48(1):221–241, 2020. ISSN 0276-2080. doi: 10.5840/philtopics202048111. URL http://www.pdcnet.org/oom/service?url\_ver=Z39.88-2004&rft\_val\_fmt=&rft.imuse\_id=philtopics\_2020\_0048\_0001\_0221\_0241&svc\_id=info:www.pdcnet.org/collection.
- Joanna J. Bryson. Robots should be slaves. In Yorick Wilks, editor, *Natural Language Processing*, volume 8, pages 63–74. John Benjamins Publishing Company, Amsterdam, 2010. ISBN 978-90-272-4994-4 978-90-272-8840-0. doi: 10.1075/nlp.8.11bry. URL https://benjamins.com/catalog/nlp.8.11bry.

Patrick Butlin. The agency in language agents. n.d.

- Patrick Butlin, Robert Long, Eric Elmoznino, Yoshua Bengio, Jonathan Birch, Axel Constant, George Deane, Stephen M. Fleming, Chris Frith, Xu Ji, Ryota Kanai, Colin Klein, Grace Lindsay, Matthias Michel, Liad Mudrik, Megan A. K. Peters, Eric Schwitzgebel, Jonathan Simon, and Rufin VanRullen. Consciousness in Artificial Intelligence: Insights from the Science of Consciousness, August 2023. URL http://arxiv.org/abs/2308.08708. arXiv:2308.08708 [cs, q-bio].
- Elisabeth Camp. A Language of Baboon Thought. In Robert W. Lurz, editor, *The Philosophy of Animal Minds*, pages 108–127. Cambridge University Press, 2009.
- Rosie Campbell. The AI Bambi Effect, September 2024. URL https://substack.com/channel-frame.
- Rosa Cao. Multiple realizability and the spirit of functionalism. *Synthese*, 200(6):506, December 2022. ISSN 1573-0964. doi: 10.1007/s11229-022-03524-1. URL https://link.springer.com/10.1007/s11229-022-03524-1.
- Google Careers. Research scientist, machine learning and cognition. https://www.google. com/about/careers/applications/jobs/results/137348742553445062-researchscientist-machine-learning-and-cognition, 2024. Accessed: 2024-10-30.
- Joe Carlsmith. Existential Risk from Power-Seeking AI. In Jacob Barrett, Hilary Greaves, and David Thorstad, editors, *Essays on Longtermism*. Oxford University Press, March 2023.
- Peter Carruthers. Contractualism and animals. In *The Animals Issue: Moral Theory in Practice*, pages 98–121. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2011. ISBN 978-0-521-43689-2. doi: 10. 1017/CBO9780511597961.006. URL https://www.cambridge.org/core/books/animals-issue/contractualism-and-animals/8718C14A15A3FD7964D4D22C512C8337.
- Peter Carruthers and Rocco Gennaro. Higher-Order Theories of Consciousness, 2020. URL https://plato.stanford.edu/archives/fall2023/entries/consciousnesshigher/.
- David Chalmers. The meta-problem of consciousness. 2018.
- David J. Chalmers. *The conscious mind: in search of a fundamental theory*. Philosophy of mind series. Oxford University Press, New York, 1996. ISBN 978-0-19-510553-7.
- David J. Chalmers. How Can We Construct a Science of Consciousness? In Michael S. Gazzaniga, editor, *The Cognitive Neurosciences III*, pages 1111–1119. MIT Press, 2004.
- David J. Chalmers. Could a Large Language Model Be Conscious? Boston Review, 1, 2023a.

- David J. Chalmers. *Reality+: virtual worlds and the problems of philosophy*. Penguin Books, London, 2023b. ISBN 978-0-14-198678-4.
- Kai Chan. Ethical extensionism under uncertainty of sentience: duties to non-human organisms without drawing a line. *Environmental Values*, 20(3):323–346, 2011.
- Paul Christiano. When is unaligned AI morally valuable?, July 2018. URL https://aialignment.com/sympathizing-with-ai-e11a4bf5ef6e.
- Axel Cleeremans and Catherine Tallon-Baudry. Consciousness matters: phenomenal experience has functional value. *Neuroscience of Consciousness*, 2022(1):niac007, April 2022. ISSN 2057-2107. doi: 10.1093/nc/niac007. URL https://academic.oup.com/nc/article/doi/10. 1093/nc/niac007/6573727.
- Clara Colombatto and Stephen M. Fleming. Folk psychological attributions of consciousness to large language models. *Neuroscience of Consciousness*, 1, 2024.
- Matteo Colombo and Gualtiero Piccinini. *The computational theory of mind*. Cambridge elements. Elements in the philosophy of mind. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2023. ISBN 978-1-00-918373-4 978-1-00-945407-0 978-1-00-918372-7. doi: 10.1017/9781009183734.
- Howard J. Curzer, Gad Perry, Mark C. Wallace, and Dan Perry. The Three Rs of Animal Research: What they Mean for the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee and Why. *Science and Engineering Ethics*, 22(2):549–565, April 2016. ISSN 1471-5546. doi: 10.1007/s11948-015-9659-8. URL https://doi.org/10.1007/s11948-015-9659-8.
- Brian Cutter. The Ai Ensoulment Hypothesis. *Faith and Philosophy*, forthcoming. URL https://philarchive.org/rec/CUTTAE.
- John Danaher. Welcoming Robots into the Moral Circle: A Defence of Ethical Behaviourism. *Science and Engineering Ethics*, 26(4):2023–2049, August 2020. ISSN 1471-5546. doi: 10.1007/s11948-019-00119-x. URL https://doi.org/10.1007/s11948-019-00119-x.
- Tom Davidson. Continuous doesn't mean slow, April 2023. URL https://www.plannedobsolescence.org/continuous-doesnt-mean-slow/.
- Frans B. M. de Waal. Anthropomorphism and Anthropodenial: Consistency in Our Thinking about Humans and Other Animals. *Philosophical Topics*, 27(1):255–280, 1999. ISSN 0276-2080. URL https://www.jstor.org/stable/43154308. Publisher: University of Arkansas Press.
- Google DeepMind. Ai achieves silver-medal standard solving international mathematical olympiad problems. https://deepmind.google/discover/blog/ai-solves-imo-problems-at-silver-medal-level/, 2024. Accessed: 2024-10-29.
- David DeGrazia, editor. *Taking Animals Seriously: Mental Life and Moral Status*. Cambridge University Press, New York, 1996.
- David DeGrazia. Self-awareness in animals. In Robert W. Lurz, editor, *The Philosophy of Animal Minds*, pages 201–217. Cambridge University Press, 1 edition, September 2009. ISBN 978-0-521-71181-4 978-0-521-88502-7 978-0-511-81900-1. doi: 10.1017/CBO9780511819001.012. URL https://www.cambridge.org/core/product/identifier/CB09780511819001A018/type/book\_part.

David DeGrazia. An Interest-Based Model of Moral Status. pages 40–56, August 2021. doi: 10.1093/oso/9780192894076.003.0003. URL https://academic.oup.com/book/41245/ chapter/350757575. Book Title: Rethinking Moral Status Edition: 1 ISBN: 9780192894076 9780191915208 Publisher: Oxford University PressOxford.

Nicolas Delon. Against sentientism. Boulder, CO, 2024.

- D. C. Dennett. Mechanism and responsibility. In Ted Honderich, editor, *Essays on Freedom of Action (Routledge Revivals)*. Routledge, 1st edition, 1973. ISBN 978-1-315-71948-1. Num Pages: 28.
- Food & Rural Affairs Department for Environment, The Rt Hon Lord Benyon, and Lord Goldsmith. Lobsters, octopus and crabs recognised as sentient beings. Technical report, gov.uk, 2021. URL https://www.gov.uk/government/news/lobsters-octopus-and-crabsrecognised-as-sentient-beings.
- Ray J. Dolan and Peter Dayan. Goals and habits in the brain. *Neuron*, 80(2):312–325, October 2013. ISSN 1097-4199. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2013.09.007.
- Xin Luna Dong, Seungwhan Moon, Yifan Ethan Xu, Kshitiz Malik, and Zhou Yu. Towards Next-Generation Intelligent Assistants Leveraging LLM Techniques. In *Proceedings of the 29th ACM SIGKDD Conference on Knowledge Discovery and Data Mining*, pages 5792–5793, Long Beach CA USA, August 2023. ACM. ISBN 9798400701030. doi: 10.1145/3580305.3599572. URL https://dl.acm.org/doi/10.1145/3580305.3599572.
- Dale Dorsey. Desire-satisfaction and Welfare as Temporal. *Ethical Theory and Moral Practice*, 16(1):151–171, February 2013. ISSN 1572-8447. doi: 10.1007/s10677-011-9315-6. URL https://doi.org/10.1007/s10677-011-9315-6.
- Rousslan Fernand Julien Dossa, Kai Arulkumaran, Arthur Juliani, Shuntaro Sasai, and Ryota Kanai. Design and evaluation of a global workspace agent embodied in a realistic multimodal environment. *Frontiers in Computational Neuroscience*, 18:1352685, June 2024. ISSN 1662-5188. doi: 10.3389/fncom.2024.1352685. URL https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/ fncom.2024.1352685/full.
- Leonard Dung. How to deal with risks of AI suffering. *Inquiry*, pages 1–29, 2023a. URL https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/0020174X.2023.2238287.
- Leonard Dung. Tests of Animal Consciousness are Tests of Machine Consciousness | Erkenntnis. *Erkenntnis*, 2023b. doi: 10.1007/s10670-023-00753-9. URL https://link.springer.com/ article/10.1007/s10670-023-00753-9.
- Leonard Dung. Preserving the Normative Significance of Sentience. *Journal of Consciousness Studies*, 31(1):8–30, 2024. doi: 10.53765/20512201.31.1.008. URL https://philarchive.org/rec/DUNPTN.

Leonard Dung. Saving Artificial Minds AI Suffering Risks and How to Reduce Them. n.d.

A. Elamrani and R.V. Yampolskiy. Reviewing Tests for Machine Consciousness. Journal of Consciousness Studies, 26(5-6):35–64, January 2019.

- Meta Fundamental AI Research Diplomacy Team (FAIR)<sup>†</sup>, Anton Bakhtin, Noam Brown, Emily Dinan, Gabriele Farina, Colin Flaherty, Daniel Fried, Andrew Goff, Jonathan Gray, Hengyuan Hu, et al. Human-level play in the game of diplomacy by combining language models with strategic reasoning. *Science*, 378(6624):1067–1074, 2022.
- Diego Fernandez-Duque and Jodie A. Baird. Is there a 'social brain'? Lessons from eye-gaze following, joint attention, and autism. *Other minds: How humans bridge the divide between self and others*, pages 75–90, 2005. URL https://www.academia.edu/download/33946605/OtherMindsDraft.pdf. Publisher: Guilford New York.
- Jolien C Francken, Lola Beerendonk, Dylan Molenaar, Johannes J Fahrenfort, Julian D Kiverstein, Anil K Seth, and Simon Van Gaal. An academic survey on theoretical foundations, common assumptions and the current state of consciousness science. *Neuroscience of Consciousness*, 2022 (1):niac011, August 2022. ISSN 2057-2107. doi: 10.1093/nc/niac011.URL https://academic. oup.com/nc/article/doi/10.1093/nc/niac011/6663928.
- Harry G. Frankfurt. Freedom of the Will and the Concept of a Person. *Journal of Philosophy*, 68(1):
  5–20, 1971. doi: 10.2307/2024717. Publisher: Journal of Philosophy Inc.
- Iason Gabriel, Arianna Manzini, Geoff Keeling, Lisa Anne Hendricks, Verena Rieser, Hasan Iqbal, Nenad Tomašev, Ira Ktena, Zachary Kenton, Mikel Rodriguez, Seliem El-Sayed, Sasha Brown, Canfer Akbulut, Andrew Trask, Edward Hughes, A. Stevie Bergman, Renee Shelby, Nahema Marchal, Conor Griffin, Juan Mateos-Garcia, Laura Weidinger, Winnie Street, Benjamin Lange, Alex Ingerman, Alison Lentz, Reed Enger, Andrew Barakat, Victoria Krakovna, John Oliver Siy, Zeb Kurth-Nelson, Amanda McCroskery, Vijay Bolina, Harry Law, Murray Shanahan, Lize Alberts, Borja Balle, Sarah de Haas, Yetunde Ibitoye, Allan Dafoe, Beth Goldberg, Sébastien Krier, Alexander Reese, Sims Witherspoon, Will Hawkins, Maribeth Rauh, Don Wallace, Matija Franklin, Josh A. Goldstein, Joel Lehman, Michael Klenk, Shannon Vallor, Courtney Biles, Meredith Ringel Morris, Helen King, Blaise Agüera y Arcas, William Isaac, and James Manyika. The Ethics of Advanced AI Assistants, April 2024. URL http://arxiv.org/abs/2404.16244. arXiv:2404.16244 [cs].
- Jonas Gehring, Kunhao Zheng, Jade Copet, Vegard Mella, Taco Cohen, and Gabriel Synnaeve. Rlef: Grounding code llms in execution feedback with reinforcement learning, 2024. URL https:// arxiv.org/abs/2410.02089.
- Joshua Gellers. *Rights for Robots: Artificial Intelligence, Animal and Environmental Law.* Taylor & Francis, Erscheinungsort nicht ermittelbar, 2021. ISBN 978-0-367-64209-9 978-0-429-28815-9 978-0-367-21174-5.
- Joshua C. Gellers. AI ethics discourse: a call to embrace complexity, interdisciplinarity, and epistemic humility. AI & SOCIETY, 39(5):2593–2594, October 2024. ISSN 0951-5666, 1435-5655. doi: 10.1007/s00146-023-01708-y. URL https://link.springer.com/10.1007/s00146-023-01708-y.
- Rocco J. Gennaro. Animals, Consciousness, and I-Thoughts. In Robert W. Lurz, editor, *The Philosophy of Animal Minds*, pages 184–200. Cambridge University Press, 2009.
- Lukas Gloor. Altruists Should Prioritize Artificial Intelligence, December 2016. URL https://longtermrisk.org/altruists-should-prioritize-artificial-intelligence/.

- Peter Godfrey-Smith. *Other minds: the octopus, the sea, and the deep origins of consciousness.* Farrar, Straus and Giroux, New York, first edition edition, 2016. ISBN 978-0-374-22776-0 978-0-374-53719-7 978-0-374-71280-8.
- Peter Godfrey-Smith. *Metazoa: animal life and the birth of the mind*. Farrar, Straus and Giroux, New York, first edition edition, 2020. ISBN 978-0-374-20794-6.
- Peter Godfrey-Smith. Inferring Consciousness in Phylogenetically Distant Organisms. Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience, 36(8):1660–1666, July 2024. ISSN 0898-929X. doi: 10.1162/jocn\_a\_ 02158. URL https://doi.org/10.1162/jocn\_a\_02158.
- Simon Goldstein and Cameron Dominico Kirk-Giannini. A Case for AI Consciousness: Language Agents and Global Workspace Theory. *arXiv*, 2024. URL https://arxiv.org/abs/2410.11407.
- Simon Goldstein and Cameron Dominico Kirk-Giannini. AI Wellbeing. *Asian Journal of Philoso-phy*, forthcoming.
- Simon Goldstein and Benjamin A. Levinstein. Does ChatGPT Have a Mind?, June 2024. URL http://arxiv.org/abs/2407.11015. arXiv:2407.11015.
- Anirudh Goyal and Yoshua Bengio. Inductive biases for deep learning of higher-level cognition. *Proceedings of the Royal Society A: Mathematical, Physical and Engineering Sciences*, 478(2266): 20210068, October 2022. ISSN 1364-5021, 1471-2946. doi: 10.1098/rspa.2021.0068. URL https://royalsocietypublishing.org/doi/10.1098/rspa.2021.0068.
- Anirudh Goyal, Abram Friesen, Andrea Banino, Theophane Weber, Nan Rosemary Ke, Adrià Puigdomènech Badia, Arthur Guez, Mehdi Mirza, Peter C. Humphreys, Ksenia Konyushova, Michal Valko, Simon Osindero, Timothy Lillicrap, Nicolas Heess, and Charles Blundell. Retrieval-Augmented Reinforcement Learning. In *Proceedings of the 39th International Conference on Machine Learning*, pages 7740–7765. PMLR, June 2022. URL https://proceedings.mlr. press/v162/goyal22a.html. ISSN: 2640-3498.
- Nico Grant and Cade Metz. Google Sidelines Engineer Who Claims Its A.I. Is Sentient. *The New York Times*, June 2022. ISSN 0362-4331. URL https://www.nytimes.com/2022/06/12/technology/google-chatbot-ai-blake-lemoine.html.
- Michael S. A. Graziano. The Attention Schema Theory: A Foundation for Engineering Artificial Consciousness. Frontiers in Robotics and AI, 4:60, November 2017. ISSN 2296-9144. doi: 10.3389/frobt.2017.00060. URL http://journal.frontiersin.org/article/10.3389/ frobt.2017.00060/full.
- Lori Gruen. Conscious animals and the value of experience. *The Oxford handbook of environmental ethics*, pages 91–100, 2017.
- David J. Gunkel. The machine question: critical perspectives on AI, robots, and ethics. The MIT Press, Cambridge, Massachusetts London, England, first mit press paperback edition edition, 2012. ISBN 978-0-262-53463-5 978-0-262-01743-5.
- Taicheng Guo, Xiuying Chen, Yaqi Wang, Ruidi Chang, Shichao Pei, Nitesh V. Chawla, Olaf Wiest, and Xiangliang Zhang. Large Language Model based Multi-Agents: A Survey of Progress and Challenges, April 2024. URL http://arxiv.org/abs/2402.01680. arXiv:2402.01680 [cs].

- Danijar Hafner, Kuang-Huei Lee, Ian Fischer, and Pieter Abbeel. Deep Hierarchical Planning from Pixels. Advances in Neural Information Processing Systems, 35:26091-26104, December 2022. URL https://proceedings.neurips.cc/paper\_files/paper/2022/hash/a766f56d2da42cae20b5652970ec04ef-Abstract-Conference.html.
- Demis Hassabis. Lex Fridman Podcast: Demis Hassabis, 2022. URL https://lexfridman.com/ demis-hassabis/.
- Chris Heathwood. Desire-fulfillment theory. In *The Routledge Handbook of Philosophy of Well-Being*. Routledge, 2015. ISBN 978-1-315-68226-6. Num Pages: 13.
- Dan Hendrycks. *Introduction to AI Safety, Ethics, and Society*. Routledge, Taylor & Francis Group, 1st edition, 2025.
- Christopher S. Hill. *Sensations: a defense of type materialism.* Cambridge studies in philosophy. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1991. ISBN 978-1-139-17382-7. doi: 10.1017/ CBO9781139173827.
- Robert Irvine, Douglas Boubert, Vyas Raina, Adian Liusie, Ziyi Zhu, Vineet Mudupalli, Aliaksei Korshuk, Zongyi Liu, Fritz Cremer, Valentin Assassi, Christie-Carol Beauchamp, Xiaoding Lu, Thomas Rialan, and William Beauchamp. Rewarding Chatbots for Real-World Engagement with Millions of Users, March 2023. URL http://arxiv.org/abs/2303.06135. arXiv:2303.06135 [cs].
- Johannes Jaeger, Anna Riedl, Alex Djedovic, John Vervaeke, and Denis Walsh. Naturalizing relevance realization: why agency and cognition are fundamentally not computational. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 15:1362658, June 2024. ISSN 1664-1078. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2024.1362658. URL https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpsyg.2024.1362658/full.
- Dale Jamieson. *Ethics and the environment: an introduction*. CAE Cambridge applied ethics. Cambridge University Press, New York, NY, second edition edition, 2008. ISBN 978-1-108-83417-9 978-1-108-99439-2.

Agnieszka Jaworska and Julie Tannenbaum. The Grounds of Moral Status, 2021.

- Susan C Johnson, Amy Booth, and Kirsten O'Hearn. Inferring the goals of a nonhuman agent. *Cognitive Development*, 16(1):637–656, January 2001. ISSN 0885-2014. doi: 10.1016/S0885-2014(01)00043-0. URL https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/ article/pii/S0885201401000430.
- Arthur Juliani, Kai Arulkumaran, Shuntaro Sasai, and Ryota Kanai. On the link between conscious function and general intelligence in humans and machines, July 2022. URL http://arxiv.org/ abs/2204.05133. arXiv:2204.05133 [cs].
- Shelly Kagan. Me and My Life. *Proceedings of the Aristotelian Society*, 94:309–324, 1994. doi: 10.1093/aristotelian/94.1.309. Publisher: Wiley-Blackwell.
- Shelly Kagan. *How to count animals, more or less*. Uehiro series in practical ethics. Oxford University Press, Oxford, first edition edition, 2019. ISBN 978-0-19-882967-6. OCLC: on1048447400.
- F. M. Kamm. *Intricate ethics: rights, responsibilities, and permissible harm.* Oxford ethics series. Oxford University Press, Oxford ; New York, 2007. ISBN 978-0-19-518969-8. OCLC: ocm58729323.

- François Kammerer. Ethics Without Sentience: Facing Up to the Probable Insignificance of Phenomenal Consciousness. *Journal of Consciousness Studies*, 29(3-4):180–204, 2022. URL https:// philarchive.org/rec/KAMEWS.
- Geoff Keeling, Winnie Street, Martyna Stachaczyk, Daria Zakharova, Iulia Comsa, Anastasiya Sakovych, Isabella Logothetis, Zejia Zhang, and Jonathan Birch. Can LLMs make trade-offs involving stipulated pain and pleasure states? n.d.
- Zachary Kenton, Ramana Kumar, Sebastian Farquhar, Jonathan Richens, Matt MacDermott, and Tom Everitt. Discovering agents. *Artificial Intelligence*, 322:103963, September 2023. ISSN 0004-3702. doi: 10.1016/j.artint.2023.103963. URL https://www.sciencedirect.com/ science/article/pii/S0004370223001091.
- Christof Koch. Will Machines Ever Become Conscious? Scientific American, December 2019. URL https://www.scientificamerican.com/article/will-machines-ever-become-conscious/.
- Christine Korsgaard. Two Distinctions in Goodness. *The Philosophical Review*, XCII(2):169–195, 1983.
- Christine Korsgaard. *Fellow Creatures: Our Obligations to the Other Animals*. Oxford University Press, 2018. ISBN 978-0-19-875385-8. Google-Books-ID: Bv9eDwAAQBAJ.
- Ali Ladak. What would qualify an artificial intelligence for moral standing? *AI and Ethics*, 4(2): 213–228, May 2024. ISSN 2730-5953, 2730-5961. doi: 10.1007/s43681-023-00260-1. URL https://link.springer.com/10.1007/s43681-023-00260-1.
- Seth Lazar. Can philosophy help us get a grip on the consequences of AI? | Aeon Essays. Aeon, February 2024. URL https://aeon.co/essays/can-philosophy-help-us-get-a-gripon-the-consequences-of-ai.
- Yann LeCun. Objective-Driven AI: Towards AI systems that can learn, remember, reason, and plan, March 2024. URL https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=MiqLoAZFRSE.
- Andrew Y. Lee. Consciousness Makes Things Matter. *Philosophers' Imprint*, forthcoming. URL https://www.andrewyuanlee.com/\_files/ugd/2dfbfe\_ 33f806a9bb8c4d5f9c3044c4086fb9b5.pdf.
- Neil Levy. Consciousness Ain't All That. *Neuroethics*, 17(2):21, July 2024. ISSN 1874-5490, 1874-5504. doi: 10.1007/s12152-024-09559-0. URL https://link.springer.com/10.1007/s12152-024-09559-0.
- Neil Levy and Julian Savulescu. Moral significance of phenomenal consciousness. In Steven Laureys, Nicholas D. Schiff, and Adrian M. Owen, editors, *Progress in Brain Research*, volume 177 of *Coma Science: Clinical and Ethical Implications*, pages 361–370. Elsevier, January 2009. doi: 10.1016/S0079-6123(09)17725-7. URL https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0079612309177257.
- Fei Fei Li and John Etchemedy. No, Today's AI Isn't Sentient. Here's How We Know. *Time*, May 2024. URL https://time.com/collection/time100-voices/6980134/ai-llmnot-sentient/.

- Ting-En Lin, Yuchuan Wu, Fei Huang, Luo Si, Jian Sun, and Yongbin Li. Duplex Conversation: Towards Human-like Interaction in Spoken Dialogue Systems. In *Proceedings of the 28th ACM SIGKDD Conference on Knowledge Discovery and Data Mining*, pages 3299–3308, Washington DC USA, August 2022. ACM. ISBN 978-1-4503-9385-0. doi: 10.1145/3534678.3539209. URL https://dl.acm.org/doi/10.1145/3534678.3539209.
- Robert Long. Experts Who Say That AI Welfare is a Serious Near-term Possibility, September 2024. URL https://eleosai.org/post/experts-who-say-that-ai-welfare-is-a-serious-near-term-possibility/.
- Steve Loughnan, Nick Haslam, and Brock Bastian. The role of meat consumption in the denial of moral status and mind to meat animals. *Appetite*, 55(1):156–159, August 2010. ISSN 01956663. doi: 10.1016/j.appet.2010.05.043. URL https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/ pii/S0195666310003648.
- William MacAskill, Krister Bykvist, and Toby Ord. *Moral uncertainty*. Oxford university press, Oxford, 2020. ISBN 978-0-19-872227-4.
- Corey Maley and Gualtiero Piccinini. Get the Latest Upgrade: Functionalism 6.3.1. *Philosophia Scientiæ*, 172(2):135–149, 2013. ISSN 1281-2463. doi: 10.4000/philosophiascientiae.
  861. URL https://shs.cairn.info/revue-philosophia-scientiae-2013-2-page-135. Publisher: Université de Lorraine Section: Psychologie.
- John McCarthy, Marvin L. Minsky, Nathaniel Rochester, and Claude E. Shannon. A Proposal for the Dartmouth Summer Research Project on Artificial Intelligence, August 31, 1955. In Ronald Chrisley and Sander Begeer, editors, *Artificial Intelligence: Critical Concepts in Cognitive Science*, pages 44–53. Routledge, 1955. URL https://ojs.aaai.org/aimagazine/index.php/aimagazine/article/view/1904. Number: 4.
- Brian P. McLaughlin. On justifying neurobiologicalism for consciousness. In Simone Gozzano and Christopher S. Hill, editors, *New Perspectives on Type Identity*. Cambridge University Press, 2012. URL https://www.cambridge.org/core/books/abs/new-perspectiveson-type-identity/on-justifying-neurobiologicalism-for-consciousness/ C2848D10B1F34557235D772CB5C26B51.
- Thomas Metzinger. Artificial Suffering: An Argument for a Global Moratorium on Synthetic Phenomenology | Journal of Artificial Intelligence and Consciousness. *Journal of Artificial Intelligence and Consciousness*, 8(1):43-66, 2021. URL https://www.worldscientific.com/ doi/abs/10.1142/S270507852150003X.
- Grégoire Mialon, Roberto Dessì, Maria Lomeli, Christoforos Nalmpantis, Ram Pasunuru, Roberta Raileanu, Baptiste Rozière, Timo Schick, Jane Dwivedi-Yu, Asli Celikyilmaz, Edouard Grave, Yann LeCun, and Thomas Scialom. Augmented Language Models: a Survey, February 2023. URL http://arxiv.org/abs/2302.07842. arXiv:2302.07842 [cs].
- Margaret Mitchell, Simone Wu, Andrew Zaldivar, Parker Barnes, Lucy Vasserman, Ben Hutchinson, Elena Spitzer, Inioluwa Deborah Raji, and Timnit Gebru. Model Cards for Model Reporting. In *Proceedings of the Conference on Fairness, Accountability, and Transparency*, FAT\* '19, pages 220–229, New York, NY, USA, January 2019. Association for Computing Machinery. ISBN 978-1-4503-6125-5. doi: 10.1145/3287560.3287596. URL https://doi.org/10.1145/3287560. 3287596.

- Volodymyr Mnih, Koray Kavukcuoglu, David Silver, Andrei A. Rusu, Joel Veness, Marc G. Bellemare, Alex Graves, Martin Riedmiller, Andreas K. Fidjeland, Georg Ostrovski, Stig Petersen, Charles Beattie, Amir Sadik, Ioannis Antonoglou, Helen King, Dharshan Kumaran, Daan Wierstra, Shane Legg, and Demis Hassabis. Human-level control through deep reinforcement learning. *Nature*, 518(7540):529–533, February 2015. ISSN 1476-4687. doi: 10.1038/nature14236. URL https://www.nature.com/articles/nature14236. Publisher: Nature Publishing Group.
- Bradley Monton. How to Avoid Maximizing Expected Utility. *Philosophers' Imprint*, 19(18):1–25, 2019.
- Hans Moravec. *Mind children: the future of robot and human intelligence*. Harvard Univ. Press, Cambridge, 4. print edition, 1995. ISBN 978-0-674-57618-6.
- C.K. Morewedge, J. Preston, and D.M. Wegner. Timescale bias in the attribution of mind. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 93(1):1–11, 2007. doi: https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514. 93.1.1.
- Meredith Ringel Morris, Jascha Sohl-dickstein, Noah Fiedel, Tris Warkentin, Allan Dafoe, Aleksandra Faust, Clement Farabet, and Shane Legg. Levels of AGI for Operationalizing Progress on the Path to AGI, June 2024. URL http://arxiv.org/abs/2311.02462. arXiv:2311.02462 [cs].
- Thomas Nagel. What Is It Like to Be a Bat? *The Philosophical Review*, 83(4):435, October 1974. ISSN 00318108. doi: 10.2307/2183914. URL https://www.jstor.org/stable/2183914? origin=crossref.
- Eddy Nahmias, D. Justin Coates, and Trevor Kvaran. Free Will, Moral Responsibility, and Mechanism: Experiments on Folk Intuitions. *Midwest Studies in Philosophy*, 31(1):214–242, September 2007. ISSN 0363-6550, 1475-4975. doi: 10.1111/j.1475-4975.2007.00158.x. URL http://www.pdcnet.org/oom/service?url\_ver=Z39.88-2004&rft\_val\_fmt=&rft. imuse\_id=msp\_2007\_0031\_0214\_0242&svc\_id=info:www.pdcnet.org/collection.
- Erica L. Neely. Machines and the Moral Community. *Philosophy & Technology*, 27(1):97–111, March 2014. ISSN 2210-5441. doi: 10.1007/s13347-013-0114-y. URL https://doi.org/10. 1007/s13347-013-0114-y.
- Robert Nozick. *Anarchy, state, and utopia*. Basic Books, New York, NY, [reprint of the] original paperback edition published in 1974, 2013 edition edition, 1974. ISBN 978-0-465-05100-7 978-0-465-09720-3.
- Martha Nussbaum. Justice for Animals. Simon & Schuster, 2024. ISBN 978-1-982102-51-7. URL https://www.simonandschuster.com/books/Justice-for-Animals/Martha-C-Nussbaum/9781982102517.
- Martha Craven Nussbaum. *Frontiers of justice: disability, nationality, species membership.* The Tanner lectures on human values. Belknap Press, Cambridge, Mass., 1. harvard univ. press paperback ed edition, 2007. ISBN 978-0-674-02410-6978-0-674-01917-1.
- Office for Human Research Protections. The Belmont Report. Page, U.S. Department of Health, January 2010. URL https://www.hhs.gov/ohrp/regulations-and-policy/belmont-report/index.html. Last Modified: 2024-10-16T21:12:02-0400.
- Derek Parfit. On What Matters, Volume One. The Berkeley Tanner lectures. Oxford Univ. Press, Oxford, 2013. ISBN 978-0-19-968103-7.

- Joon Sung Park, Joseph O'Brien, Carrie Jun Cai, Meredith Ringel Morris, Percy Liang, and Michael S. Bernstein. Generative Agents: Interactive Simulacra of Human Behavior. In Proceedings of the 36th Annual ACM Symposium on User Interface Software and Technology, UIST '23, pages 1–22, New York, NY, USA, October 2023. Association for Computing Machinery. ISBN 9798400701320. doi: 10.1145/3586183.3606763. URL https://dl.acm.org/doi/10. 1145/3586183.3606763.
- Oscar Pearce. The impact of cartoon animals on mind perception, moral standing, and cuteness: a thesis presented in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Arts in Psychology at Massey University, Manawatu, New Zealand. PhD thesis, Massey University, 2022.
- Ethan Perez and Robert Long. Towards Evaluating AI Systems for Moral Status Using Self-Reports, November 2023. URL http://arxiv.org/abs/2311.08576. arXiv:2311.08576 [cs].
- Gualtiero Piccinini. Non-Computational Functionalism: Computation and the Function of Consciousness. In 2018 Conference on Cognitive Computational Neuroscience, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, USA, 2018. Cognitive Computational Neuroscience. doi: 10.32470/CCN.2018.1022-0. URL https://ccneuro.org/2018/Papers/ViewPapers.asp?PaperNum=1022.
- Moschoula Pternea, Prerna Singh, Abir Chakraborty, Yagna Oruganti, Mirco Milletari, Sayli Bapat, and Kebei Jiang. The RL/LLM Taxonomy Tree: Reviewing Synergies Between Reinforcement Learning and Large Language Models, February 2024. URL http://arxiv.org/abs/2402.01874. arXiv:2402.01874 version: 1.
- Hilary Putnam. Psychological Predicates. In William H. Capitan and Daniel D. Merrill, editors, *Art, Mind, and Religion*, pages 37–48. University of Pittsburgh Press, 1967. URL https://philpapers.org/rec/PUTPP-2.
- James Rachels. *The end of life: euthanasia and morality*. Studies in bioethics. Oxford University Press, Oxford [Oxfordshire]; New York, 1986. ISBN 978-0-19-217746-9978-0-19-286070-5.
- Srinivasa N. Raja, Daniel B. Carr, Milton Cohen, Nanna B. Finnerup, Herta Flor, Stephen Gibson, Francis J. Keefe, Jeffrey S. Mogil, Matthias Ringkamp, Kathleen A. Sluka, Xue-Jun Song, Bonnie Stevens, Mark D. Sullivan, Perri R. Tutelman, Takahiro Ushida, and Kyle Vader. The revised International Association for the Study of Pain definition of pain: concepts, challenges, and compromises. *Pain*, 161(9):1976–1982, September 2020. ISSN 1872-6623. doi: 10.1097/j.pain.000000000001939.
- John Rawls. A Theory of Justice: Original Edition. Harvard University Press, 1971. ISBN 978-0-674-04260-5 978-0-674-88010-8. doi: 10.2307/j.ctvjf9z6v. URL http://www.jstor.org/ stable/10.2307/j.ctvjf9z6v.
- Michael Rescorla. The Computational Theory of Mind, 2020. URL https://plato.stanford.edu/archives/fall2020/entries/computational-mind/.
- Luke Roelofs. Sentientism, Motivation, and Philosophical Vulcans. *Pacific Philosophical Quarterly*, 104(2):301–323, 2023. ISSN 1468-0114. doi: 10.1111/papq.12420. URL https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/papq.12420. \_eprint: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1111/papq.12420.
- Yangjun Ruan, Chris J. Maddison, and Tatsunori Hashimoto. Observational scaling laws and the predictability of language model performance, 2024. URL https://arxiv.org/abs/2405. 10938.

- Ohad Rubin, Jonathan Herzig, and Jonathan Berant. Learning To Retrieve Prompts for In-Context Learning, May 2022. URL http://arxiv.org/abs/2112.08633. arXiv:2112.08633 [cs].
- William Ruddick. "Biographical Lives" Revisited and Extended. *The Journal of Ethics*, 9(3):501–515, October 2005. ISSN 1572-8609. doi: 10.1007/s10892-005-3520-2. URL https://doi.org/10.1007/s10892-005-3520-2.
- Stuart J. Russell, Peter Norvig, and Ernest Davis. Artificial intelligence: a modern approach. Prentice Hall series in artificial intelligence. Prentice Hall, Upper Saddle River, 3rd ed edition, 2010. ISBN 978-0-13-604259-4.
- Peter Salib and Simon Goldstein. AI Rights for Human Safety, August 2024. URL https://papers.ssrn.com/abstract=4913167.
- Markus Schlosser. Agency, 2019. URL https://plato.stanford.edu/archives/win2019/ entries/agency/.
- Christopher Schlottmann and Jeff Sebo. *Food, animals, and the environment: an ethical approach.* Routledge/Taylor & Francis Group, Abingdon, Oxon ; New York, NY, 2018. ISBN 978-1-138-80111-0 978-1-138-80112-7.
- Susan Schneider. Artificial You: AI and the Future of Your Mind. Princeton University Press, Princeton, 2019. ISBN 978-0-691-18014-4 978-0-691-19777-7.
- Susan Schneider. Emergent Spacetime, the Megastructure Problem, and the Metaphysics of the Self. *Philosophy East and West*, 74(2):314–332, 2024. doi: 10.1353/pew.2024.a925196.
- Julian Schrittwieser, Ioannis Antonoglou, Thomas Hubert, Karen Simonyan, Laurent Sifre, Simon Schmitt, Arthur Guez, Edward Lockhart, Demis Hassabis, Thore Graepel, Timothy Lillicrap, and David Silver. Mastering Atari, Go, chess and shogi by planning with a learned model. *Nature*, 588 (7839):604–609, December 2020. ISSN 1476-4687. doi: 10.1038/s41586-020-03051-4. URL https://www.nature.com/articles/s41586-020-03051-4. Publisher: Nature Publishing Group.
- E. Schwitzgebel. Phenomenal Consciousness, Defined and Defended as Innocently as I Can Manage. *Journal of Consciousness Studies*, 23(11-12):224–235, January 2016.
- Eric Schwitzgebel. The Coming Robot Rights Catastrophe | Blog of the APA, 2023a. URL https://blog.apaonline.org/2023/01/12/the-coming-robot-rightscatastrophe/. 2023a.
- Eric Schwitzgebel. The Full Rights Dilemma for AI Systems of Debatable Moral Personhood. *ROBONOMICS: The Journal of the Automated Economy*, 4:32–32, 2023b. ISSN 2683-099X. URL https://journal.robonomics.science/index.php/rj/article/view/32. 2023b.
- Eric Schwitzgebel and Mara Garza. A Defense of the Rights of Artificial Intelligences. *Midwest Studies in Philosophy*, 39(1):98–119, 2015. doi: 10.1111/misp.12032.
- Eric Schwitzgebel and Mara Garza. Designing AI with Rights, Consciousness, Self-Respect, and Freedom. In *Ethics of Artificial Intelligence*, pages 459–479. Oxford University Press, September 2020. ISBN 978-0-19-090503-3 978-0-19-090507-1. doi: 10.1093/oso/9780190905033.003. 0017. URL https://academic.oup.com/book/33540/chapter/287907290.

- Jeff Sebo. Agency and Moral Status. *Journal of Moral Philosophy*, 14(1):1–22, 2017. doi: 10.1163/ 17455243-46810046.
- Jeff Sebo. The Moral Problem of Other Minds. *The Harvard Review of Philosophy*, 25:51–70, 2018. doi: 10.5840/harvardreview20185913.
- Jeff Sebo. Kantianism for humans, utilitarianism for nonhumans? Yes and no. *Philosophical Studies*, 180(4):1211–1230, 2022. ISSN 0031-8116, 1573-0883. doi: 10.1007/s11098-022-01835-0. URL https://link.springer.com/10.1007/s11098-022-01835-0.
- Jeff Sebo. The Moral Circle. WW Norton, 2025.
- Jeff Sebo and Robert Long. Moral consideration for AI systems by 2030. *AI and Ethics*, December 2023. ISSN 2730-5953, 2730-5961. doi: 10.1007/s43681-023-00379-1. URL https://link.springer.com/10.1007/s43681-023-00379-1.
- Anil Seth. *Being you: a new science of consciousness*. Dutton, New York, New York, 2021. ISBN 978-1-5247-4287-4.
- Anil Seth. Why Conscious AI Is a Bad, Bad Idea. *Nautilus*, May 2023. URL https://nautil.us/why-conscious-ai-is-a-bad-bad-idea-302937/.
- Anil Seth. Conscious artificial intelligence and biological naturalism, June 2024. URL https://osf.io/tz6an.
- Anil K Seth and Tim Bayne. Theories of consciousness. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 23(7): 439–452, 2022.
- Jaime Sevilla, Tamay Besiroglu, Ben Cottier, Josh You, Edu Roldán, Pablo Villalobos, and Ege Erdil. Can ai scaling continue through 2030?, 2024. URL https://epochai.org/blog/canai-scaling-continue-through-2030. Accessed: 2024-10-30.
- Murray Shanahan, Matthew Crosby, Benjamin Beyret, and Lucy Cheke. Artificial Intelligence and the Common Sense of Animals. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 24(11):862–872, November 2020. ISSN 1364-6613. doi: 10.1016/j.tics.2020.09.002. URL https://www.sciencedirect.com/ science/article/pii/S1364661320302163.
- Nicholas Shea and Chris D. Frith. The Global Workspace Needs Metacognition. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 23(7):560–571, July 2019. ISSN 13646613. doi: 10.1016/j.tics.2019.04.007. URL https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S1364661319300993.
- Nicholas Shea, Annika Boldt, Dan Bang, Nick Yeung, Cecilia Heyes, and Chris D. Frith. Suprapersonal cognitive control and metacognition. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 18(4):186–193, April 2014. ISSN 1879-307X. doi: 10.1016/j.tics.2014.01.006.
- Joshua Shepherd. *Consciousness and moral status*. Routledge focus on philosophy. Routledge, Taylor & Francis Group, London New York, 2018. ISBN 978-0-367-73437-4978-1-138-22161-1 978-1-315-39634-7.
- Henry Shevlin. General Intelligence: An Ecumenical Heuristic for Artificial Consciousness Research? Journal of Artificial Intelligence and Consciousness, 07(02):245-256, September 2020. ISSN 2705-0785, 2705-0793. doi: 10.1142/S2705078520500149. URL https://www. worldscientific.com/doi/abs/10.1142/S2705078520500149.

- Henry Shevlin. How Could We Know When a Robot was a Moral Patient? Cambridge Quarterly of Healthcare Ethics, 30(3):459-471, July 2021. ISSN 0963-1801, 1469-2147. doi: 10.1017/S0963180120001012. URL https://www.cambridge.org/core/product/ identifier/S0963180120001012/type/journal\_article.
- Derek Shiller. Functionalism, Integrity, and Digital Consciousness. *Synthese*, 203(2):1–20, 2024. doi: 10.1007/s11229-023-04473-z. Publisher: Springer Verlag.
- Noah Shinn, Federico Cassano, Edward Berman, Ashwin Gopinath, Karthik Narasimhan, and Shunyu Yao. Reflexion: Language Agents with Verbal Reinforcement Learning, October 2023. URL http://arxiv.org/abs/2303.11366. arXiv:2303.11366.
- Carl Shulman and Nick Bostrom. Sharing the World with Digital Minds. In Steve Clarke, Hazem Zohny, and Julian Savulescu, editors, *Rethinking Moral Status*, pages 306–326. Oxford University PressOxford, 1 edition, August 2021. ISBN 978-0-19-289407-6 978-0-19-191520-8. doi: 10.1093/oso/9780192894076.003.0018. URL https://academic.oup.com/book/41245/chapter/350760172.
- David Silver, Satinder Singh, Doina Precup, and Richard S. Sutton. Reward is enough. *Artificial Intelligence*, 299:103535, October 2021. ISSN 0004-3702. doi: 10.1016/j.artint.2021.103535. URL https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0004370221000862.
- Toni Sims. The Thought Experiments are Rigged: Mechanistic Understanding Inhibits Mentalistic Understanding (as Adleberg, T.), August 2013. URL https://scholarworks.gsu.edu/ philosophy\_theses/141. Publisher: Georgia State University.
- Peter Singer. *Practical ethics*. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge New York, 3rd ed edition, 2011. ISBN 978-0-521-88141-8 978-0-521-70768-8.
- Declan Smithies. Hedonic Consciousness and Moral Status. forthcoming.
- Lynne U. Sneddon, Robert W. Elwood, Shelley A. Adamo, and Matthew C. Leach. Defining and assessing animal pain. *Animal Behaviour*, 97:201–212, November 2014. ISSN 0003-3472. doi: 10.1016/j.anbehav.2014.09.007. URL https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0003347214003431.
- Nicholas H. Steneck. Role of the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee in Monitoring Research. *Ethics & Behavior*, 7(2):173–184, June 1997. ISSN 1050-8422. doi: 10.1207/ s15327019eb0702\_8. URL https://doi.org/10.1207/s15327019eb0702\_8. Publisher: Routledge \_eprint: https://doi.org/10.1207/s15327019eb0702\_8.
- Theodore R. Sumers, Shunyu Yao, Karthik Narasimhan, and Thomas L. Griffiths. Cognitive Architectures for Language Agents, March 2024. URL http://arxiv.org/abs/2309.02427. arXiv:2309.02427 [cs].
- Richard S Sutton and Andrew G Barto. *Reinforcement Learning: An Introduction*. The MIT Press, 2015.
- Adaptive Agent Team, Jakob Bauer, Kate Baumli, Satinder Baveja, Feryal Behbahani, Avishkar Bhoopchand, Nathalie Bradley-Schmieg, Michael Chang, Natalie Clay, Adrian Collister, Vibhavari Dasagi, Lucy Gonzalez, Karol Gregor, Edward Hughes, Sheleem Kashem, Maria Loks-Thompson, Hannah Openshaw, Jack Parker-Holder, Shreya Pathak, Nicolas Perez-Nieves, Nemanja Rakicevic, Tim Rocktäschel, Yannick Schroecker, Jakub Sygnowski, Karl Tuyls, Sarah

York, Alexander Zacherl, and Lei Zhang. Human-timescale adaptation in an open-ended task space, 2023. URL https://arxiv.org/abs/2301.07608.

- Nitasha Tiku. Google engineer Blake Lemoine thinks its LaMDA AI has come to life The Washington Post. June 2022. URL https://www.washingtonpost.com/technology/2022/06/ 11/google-ai-lamda-blake-lemoine/.
- Brian Tomasik. Risks of Astronomical Future Suffering. Technical report, Center on Long-Term Risk, 2011.
- Helen Toner, John Bansemer, Kyle Crichton, Matthew Burtell, Thomas Woodside, Anat Lior, Andrew Lohn, Ashwin Acharya, Beba Cibralic, Chris Painter, Cullen O'Keefe, Iason Gabriel, Kathleen Fisher, Ketan Ramakrishnan, Krystal Jackson, Noam Kolt, Rebecca Crootof, and Samrat Chattergee. Through the Chat Window and Into the Real World: Preparing for AI Agents. Technical report, CSET, October 2024. URL https://cset.georgetown.edu/publication/through-the-chat-window-and-into-the-real-world-preparing-for-ai-agents/.
- A. M. Turing. Computing Machinery and Intelligence. Mind, LIX(236):433-460, October 1950. ISSN 1460-2113, 0026-4423. doi: 10.1093/mind/LIX.236.433. URL https://academic.oup. com/mind/article/LIX/236/433/986238.
- Michael Tye. *Tense Bees and Shell-Shocked Crabs: Are Animals Conscious?* Oxford University Press USA, New York, US, 2016.
- D. B. Udell and Eric Schwitzgebel. Susan Schneider's Proposed Tests for Ai Consciousness: Promising but Flawed. *Journal of Consciousness Studies*, 28(5-6):121–144, 2021.
- Rufin VanRullen and Ryota Kanai. Deep learning and the Global Workspace Theory. *Trends in Neurosciences*, 44(9):692–704, September 2021. ISSN 1878-108X. doi: 10.1016/j.tins.2021.04. 005.
- Paul F. M. J. Verschure. Synthetic consciousness: the distributed adaptive control perspective. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 371(1701):20150448, August 2016. ISSN 0962-8436, 1471-2970. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2015.0448. URL https:// royalsocietypublishing.org/doi/10.1098/rstb.2015.0448.
- Oriol Vinyals, Igor Babuschkin, Wojciech M. Czarnecki, Michaël Mathieu, Andrew Dudzik, Junyoung Chung, David H. Choi, Richard Powell, Timo Ewalds, Petko Georgiev, Junhyuk Oh, Dan Horgan, Manuel Kroiss, Ivo Danihelka, Aja Huang, Laurent Sifre, Trevor Cai, John P. Agapiou, Max Jaderberg, Alexander S. Vezhnevets, Rémi Leblond, Tobias Pohlen, Valentin Dalibard, David Budden, Yury Sulsky, James Molloy, Tom L. Paine, Caglar Gulcehre, Ziyu Wang, Tobias Pfaff, Yuhuai Wu, Roman Ring, Dani Yogatama, Dario Wünsch, Katrina McKinney, Oliver Smith, Tom Schaul, Timothy Lillicrap, Koray Kavukcuoglu, Demis Hassabis, Chris Apps, and David Silver. Grandmaster level in StarCraft II using multi-agent reinforcement learning. *Nature*, 575(7782): 350–354, November 2019. ISSN 1476-4687. doi: 10.1038/s41586-019-1724-z. URL https://www.nature.com/articles/s41586-019-1724-z. Publisher: Nature Publishing Group.
- Guanzhi Wang, Yuqi Xie, Yunfan Jiang, Ajay Mandlekar, Chaowei Xiao, Yuke Zhu, Linxi Fan, and Anima Anandkumar. Voyager: An Open-Ended Embodied Agent with Large Language Models, October 2023. URL http://arxiv.org/abs/2305.16291. arXiv:2305.16291 [cs].

- Lei Wang, Chen Ma, Xueyang Feng, Zeyu Zhang, Hao Yang, Jingsen Zhang, Zhiyuan Chen, Jiakai Tang, Xu Chen, Yankai Lin, Wayne Xin Zhao, Zhewei Wei, and Jirong Wen. A survey on large language model based autonomous agents. *Frontiers of Computer Science*, 18(6):186345, March 2024. ISSN 2095-2236. doi: 10.1007/s11704-024-40231-1. URL https://doi.org/10.1007/s11704-024-40231-1.
- Marcel Wissenburg. Human-animal amity and reciprocity. *AMITY: The Journal of Friendship Studies*, 2(1):4–17, 2014.
- Thomas Woodside. Examples of AI Improving AI. Technical report, Center for AI Safety, 2023. URL https://ai-improving-ai.safe.ai/.
- Michael Wooldridge and Nicholas R. Jennings. Intelligent agents: Theory and practice. *The knowledge engineering review*, 10(2):115–152, 1995. URL https://www.cambridge.org/core/journals/knowledge-engineering-review/article/intelligent-agents-theory-and-practice/CF2A6AAEEA1DBD486EF019F6217F1597. Publisher: Cambridge University Press.
- Peter R. Wurman, Samuel Barrett, Kenta Kawamoto, James MacGlashan, Kaushik Subramanian, Thomas J. Walsh, Roberto Capobianco, Alisa Devlic, Franziska Eckert, Florian Fuchs, Leilani Gilpin, Piyush Khandelwal, Varun Kompella, HaoChih Lin, Patrick MacAlpine, Declan Oller, Takuma Seno, Craig Sherstan, Michael D. Thomure, Houmehr Aghabozorgi, Leon Barrett, Rory Douglas, Dion Whitehead, Peter Dürr, Peter Stone, Michael Spranger, and Hiroaki Kitano. Outracing champion Gran Turismo drivers with deep reinforcement learning. *Nature*, 602(7896): 223–228, February 2022. ISSN 1476-4687. doi: 10.1038/s41586-021-04357-7.
- Mun Fei Yam, Yean Chun Loh, Chuan Wei Oo, and Rusliza Basir. Overview of Neurological Mechanism of Pain Profile Used for Animal "Pain-Like" Behavioral Study with Proposed Analgesic Pathways. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 21(12):4355, June 2020. ISSN 1422-0067. doi: 10.3390/ijms21124355.
- Shunyu Yao, Jeffrey Zhao, Dian Yu, Nan Du, Izhak Shafran, Karthik Narasimhan, and Yuan Cao. ReAct: Synergizing Reasoning and Acting in Language Models, March 2023. URL http://arxiv.org/abs/2210.03629. arXiv:2210.03629 [cs].
- Daniel M. Ziegler, Nisan Stiennon, Jeffrey Wu, Tom B. Brown, Alec Radford, Dario Amodei, Paul Christiano, and Geoffrey Irving. Fine-tuning language models from human preferences, 2020. URL https://arxiv.org/abs/1909.08593.